
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Tasha Prosser 
Natasha.Prosser@leeds.gov.uk 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
 

 
 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

  

 

 

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 

Thursday, 24th November, 2022 
at 1.30 pm 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
B Anderson 
C Campbell 
S Hamilton 
D Ragan 

R Finnigan 
T Smith 

E Taylor (Chair) 
J Bowden 
J Garvani 

J Heselwood 
N Walshaw 

 
 
Please do not attend the meeting in person if you have symptoms of Covid-19 and please 
follow current public health advice to avoid passing the virus onto other people. 
 
Note to observers of the meeting. To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the 
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked 
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement 
of the meeting. 
 
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=950&MId=11964&Ver=4  
 
We strive to ensure our public committee meetings are inclusive and accessible for 
all. If you are intending to observe a public meeting in-person, please advise us in 
advance of any specific access requirements that we need to take into account by 
email (FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk). Please state the name, date and start 
time of the committee meeting you will be observing and include your full name and 
contact details.

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=950&MId=11964&Ver=4


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

   SITE VISITS 
 
 

 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
 No exempt items or information have 

been identified on the agenda 
 
 

 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

5     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 27 OCTOBER 2022 
 
To receive and consider the attached minutes of 
the meeting held Thursday, 22nd October 2022. 
 
 

9 - 12 

7   
 

  21/05270/FU - HEADINGLEY COMMUNITY 
CENTRE, NORTH LANE, HEADINGLEY, LS6 
3HW 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Chief Planning Officer regarding a change of use 
application for the former community centre into a 
5-bed aparthotel (Use Class C1), including an 
extension over the existing boiler room, 
fenestration changes, insertion of skylights, 
reconfiguration and subdivision of the service yard 
area, bin store and bike storage at Headingley 
Community Centre, North Lane, Headingley, LS6 
3HW. 
 
 

13 - 
34 

8   
 

  22/02200/FU - STABLE BLOCK, MALL LANE, 
OFF CARLTON LANE, GUISELEY, LEEDS, LS20 
9PE 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Chief Planning Officer regarding an application to 
demolish stable block and office and erect one 
dwelling house including alterations to form vehicle 
access at Stable Block, Mall Lane, Off Carlton 
Lane, Guiseley, Leeds, LS20 9PE. 
 
 

35 - 
46 

9   
 

  21/08345/FU AND 21/08346/LI - FORMER 
BURLEY LIBRARY, 230 CARDIGAN ROAD, 
HEADINGLEY, LEEDS, LS6 1QL 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Chief Planning Officer regarding a position 
statement change of use application of former 
library and the erection of a six storey extension to 
create a co-living scheme (sui generis) with 
associated communal facilities, a work hub to 
ground floor and basement parking, Former Burley 
Library, 230 Cardigan Road, Headingley, Leeds, 
LS6 1QL. 
 
 

47 - 
64 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

10   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The date and time of the next meeting is scheduled 
to take place Thursday, 22nd December 2022 at 
1:30 p.m. 
 
 

 

   Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable 
those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable 
the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts 
named on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of 
practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be 
accompanied by a statement of when and 
where the recording was made, the context of 
the discussion that took place, and a clear 
identification of the main speakers and their 
role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the 
recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by attendees.  
In particular there should be no internal editing 
of published extracts; recordings may start at 
any point and end at any point but the material 
between those points must be complete. 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



www.leeds.gov.uk general enquiries 0113 222 4444             ® 

 
 

 

 Planning Services  
 The Leonardo Building  
 2 Rossington Street 
 Leeds  
 LS2 8HD 
 
 Contact:  Steve Butler  
 Tel:  0113 224 3421  
 steve.butler@leeds.gov.uk 
                                                 

                                 Our reference:  SW Site Visits
 Date:  10/11/2022 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
SITE VISIT – SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL – THURSDAY 24th November 2022 
 

Prior to the meeting of the South and West Plans Panel on Thursday the 24th of November 
following site visit will take place: 
 

Time   

Depart 
Civic Hall      
10.15 
 

  

Arrive – 
10.55 
Depart – 
11.15 

22/02200/FU 
Demolish stable block and office and erect 
one dwelling house including alterations to 
form new vehicle access. 
Stable Block Mall Lane, Off Carlton 
Lane, Guiseley 
 

 

 
 
 
Arrive - 
11.25 
Depart – 
11.45 

 
 
 
21/08345/FU  
Change of use of former library and the 
erection of a six-storey extension to create 
a co-living scheme (sui generis) with 
associated communal facilities, a work hub 
to ground floor and basement parking 
Former Burley Library, 230 Cardigan 
Road, Headingley 

 

To all Members of South and West 
Plans Panel 

Page 7



www.leeds.gov.uk general enquiries 0113 222 4444             ® 

 
 

 

12.00 Return Civic Hall  

 
 
 
 
 
Please notify Steve Butler (Tel: 3787950) if this should cause you any difficulties as soon as 
possible.  Otherwise please meet in the Ante Chamber at 09.55 am. As the site visits may 
involve walking in a farm yard which may be unsurfaced in part, please wear footwear 
appropriate to the prevailing weather conditions. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Steve Butler  
Group Manager 
South and West 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 24th November, 2022 

 

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL 
 

THURSDAY, 27TH OCTOBER, 2022 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor E Taylor in the Chair 

 Councillors B Anderson, C Campbell, 
S Hamilton, D Ragan, T Smith, J Bowden, 
J Garvani and N Walshaw 

 
SITE VISITS 
 
Councillors B Anderson, C Campbell, S Hamilton, T Smith, and E Taylor 
attended the site visit earlier in the day. 
 

49 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  
 

There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents. 
 

50 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 

There were no exempt items. 
 

51 Late Items  
 

There were no formal late items. 
 

52 Declarations of Interests  
 

Members did not declare any interests at the meeting. 
 

53 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies were received from Councillors J Heselwood and R Finnigan. 
 

54 Minutes - 29 September 22  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held Thursday, 29th 
September 2020 be approved as an accurate record. 
 

55 22/04149/FU - Guiseley School, Fieldhead Road, Guiseley  
 

The report of the Chief Planning Officer presented an application for a 
proposed 2.4m high perimeter fencing to existing school playing fields and 
five gates for access and maintenance, Guiseley School, Fieldhead Road, 
Guiseley. 
 
Reference was made to a further late representation submitted on behalf of 
Councillors Alderson and Wadsworth expressing their views that the proposed 
site is an open area of land utilised by the community for activities such as 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 24th November, 2022 

 

walking and jogging. They raised concerns regarding advertisement methods 
and given that there are two applications on this site relating to proposed 
development on Guiseley School playing fields, many of the concerns 
expressed towards this application are linked to amenity, car parking, light 
pollution and noise nuisance are also relevant. A request was made that the 
application be deferred until the application for the 3G pitch is ready for 
determination. However, should the application before Panel members go 
ahead, it was requested that a condition be implemented that the gates 
remain open on evenings and weekends for public use. 
 
It was confirmed that there is a pending application for use of a 3G pitch with 
floodlighting, however, this is a separate application to be determined on its 
own planning merits. 
 
Photographs and slides were shown throughout the presentation, and the 
officer in attendance provided Panel members with the following information: 

 The applicant has cited safeguarding as well as health and safety 
reasons as their justification to enclose these playing pitches. There 
has also been an increase in SEND pupils attending the school. 

 The application site is located north-west of the main school campus. 
To the north, the site is adjacent to Green Meadows Academy and to 
the east, the site adjoins the rear of the residential properties fronting 
Aldersyde Road. A designated footpath separates the wider school site 
which runs along its south-eastern boundary with Fieldhead Drive to 
the south-west and Bradford Road to the west with housing beyond. 

 The boundary treatment proposed is a green weld mesh solution which 
is common for schools and its height and design is typical of the DfE’s 
standard requirement for such works. 

 The footpath from Fieldhead is unaffected by the proposals. 

 In relation to the western boundary, which runs parallel with Bradford 
Road and where the site is adjacent to part of the Tranmere Park 
Conservation Area, the school field is markedly lower than the adjacent 
public highway and the stone wall; the change in land levels the fence 
will be partly visible from human level when viewed from Bradford 
Road. 

 The proposed fence would be positioned a considerable distance away 
from the nearest dwellings and in any event is separated by either 
trees or vegetation and on the western part of the site. 

 The site is allocated as greenspace in the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) 
with a typology of outdoor sports and designated as protective playing 
pitches. 

 The fence will be set back by 2-3m, presenting an opportunity to 
introduce tree planting which will provide further screening. 
Additionally, the fence is set back by 6m from the nearest residential 
properties, which is considered sufficient distance away to protect 
visual amenity. 

 There is an existing Community Use Agreement on site which has 
been in place since 2019 and this will be unaffected by the proposals 
and the site will remain accessible to the community but in a more 
structured way. 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 24th November, 2022 

 

 
The objector in attendance at the meeting raised his concerns regarding the 
impact on climate change and flood mitigation on the proposed site. The 
objector believed that the application before Panel members is interrelated 
with the separate application for the proposed 3G pitch. The objector was not 
satisfied with how the Council have dealt with community contributions on the 
proposed application and was of the opinion that the proposals are 
detrimental to peoples wellbeing, by restricting use of the community for 
outdoor activities. 
 
Supporters in attendance at the meeting reiterated that the proposed height 
for the fencing meets DfE standards, and no vegetation is proposed to be lost, 
as well as there being an opportunity for additional landscaping. It was 
confirmed that Guiseley School privately own the playing fields and the school 
want to improve safeguarding measures during PE lessons and extra 
curriculum activities. The works will help reduce anti-social activities, 
disturbance, litter and prevent dog fouling. There have also been 3 instances 
of an intruder in the last 2 years, and the works will help mitigate further 
issues. Due to resource implications, it has become more difficult for the 
school and its staff to mitigate the risks associated with the issues the school 
have been faced with because of not having a secure boundary. 
 
In response to questions from Panel members, the following was confirmed: 

 It is not possible to reduce the space inside the permitter fencing as 
these spaces are required to provide run off space for pupils when 
partaking in activities on the pitches. 

 The school has consulted with the community in line with the Councils 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) as well as leaflet dropping 
and holding discussions with school governors regarding plans for the 
proposals. 

 The fence conforms with DfE standards. The school didn’t consider 
alternative treatment measures such as enlarging hedges / retaining 
walls as these suggested alternatives do not comply with DfE 
standards. 

 
In response to questions from Panel members, officers confirmed the 
following: 

 There are no forthcoming applications associated with the site that 
affect the proposals before Panel members. It was confirmed that the 
determination of the application before Panel members is not 
connected to any other application, and the decision will not impact 
upon future considerations for other applications. in addition to this, it 
was confirmed that the application is should be determined by Panel 
members without any further delay. The application is to be considered 
on its own planning merits and there are safeguarding issues currently 
and any delays may add to those risks. 

 The school require a secure perimeter boundary, and the 2.4m fence is 
a standard recommendation by DfE and is often found in greenbelt 
areas and conservation areas. It was of the opinion of officers that a 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 24th November, 2022 

 

hedge will not achieve a high level of security required for the schools 
pupils. 

 There are 2 access points to the school. 

 The existing Community Use Agreement cannot be amended, only 
through further permissions and a variation to the planning agreement. 
It was confirmed that the agreement is legally controlled and can be 
enforced. Officers explained that it would be unnecessary to re-
condition the agreement through this application for a perimeter fence. 

 
The officer recommendation as set out in the submitted report, was moved by 
Councillor N Walshaw, and then seconded by Councillor D Ragan. Members 
continued to comment on the proposals before them highlighting that: 

 A number of members believed that the playing fields should remain 
open on evenings and weekends. However, some members were of 
the opinion that the gates should remain shut for safeguarding issues. 

 A suggestion was put forward that bins are placed around the 
application site as this may mitigate littering issues. 

 Concern that alternative treatments will not keep pupils with special 
educational needs and disabilities safe. 

 It was acknowledged that there hasn’t previously been a need for the 
school to use the Community Use Agreement as the school is still 
currently under construction but once the fence is erected, the 
community can access the site but in a more structured manner. 

 
Councillor C Campbell put forward a suggestion to amend the original motion 
put forward by Councillor Walshaw, and in doing so suggested that the officer 
recommendation be tweaked so that in relation to the western boundary of the 
proposed site, a more appropriate treatment be considered, as well as 
improvements to the hedge line. The amendment to the motion was seconded 
by Councillor B Anderson. 
 
Councillor N Walshaw (original motion mover) did not agree with the amended 
proposal to his motion as he believed this did not provide a sufficient barrier 
for the proposed site. 
  
The Panel proceeded to vote on the amended motion proposed by Cllr 
Campbell, and this was not supported. A vote was then taken on the on the 
original motion moved by Cllr Walshaw as originally proposed to support the 
officer recommendation. It was then 
RESOLVED – To grant permission. 
 

56 Date and time of the next meeting  
 

The date and time of the next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 24th 
November 2022 at 13:30. 
 
The meeting concluded at 14:55. 
 

Page 12



� � ��

� � ��

������������	��
	�����
��������������������������������������������������� �	���!�"#����$�����%#&������'($)�*$(+��,�
	��������%-������	�����"�����""%���.�������������),#�/������	���
�0�-��

�--�
'12����
%/�����3���-�����!����3�-�����#��
������"2�����-���������	����-2���-����������-4.
��	�-2���������%���������/�-%#,/�!�-�������-��!����.��/�����2�#���-�������/�#�4��-�������������/���
�.�
�""%���.�
�����2�����	�����2����/���
�.2���5�6��������7
������� � �����8��7���� � ���9���������:;<=>;?@AB�C;DE@�FG?G=@H� IJKLMKNLNI� � � NJKIIKNLNN���
������� �����
�OO�����7����9��������O7��7��2�-%#&��������	����

�P�����
����������/�����-��� IK�QG?@�FG?G=�RS�B@TAEU�NK�VWWA;X@H�WYT<E�YGE=�SK�:T=@AGTY�ET?WY@E�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�[�\@=TGYE�;]�A@<H@A�]G<GÊ�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�_K�̀ ;<E=ADa=G;<�H@=TGYE�T<H�]G<GÊ�;]�bG<H;bEc�bG<H;b�]AT?G<>c�@d=@A<TY�H;;AEc�>T=@Ec�EG><T>@�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�JK�eTG<bT=@A�>;;HE�f�\@=TGYE�;]�>D==@AE�T<H�H;b<WGW@E�G<aYDHG<>�WA;]GY@c�]GdG<>Ec�?T=@AGTYE�T<H�WA;W;E@H�]G<GÊ�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�MK�gDYY�H@=TGYE�;]�=̂@�WA;W;E@H�E@AXGa@�BTAH�>T=@Ec�EDA]TaG<>�T<H�bTYYG<>�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�hK�\@=TGYE�;]�]GAE=�]Y;;A�a;A<@A�bG<H;b�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�iK�\@=TGYE�;]�@d=@A<TY�WYT<=�T<H�X@<=E�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�jK�̀ ;<E@AXT=G;<�E=BY@�A;;]YG>̂=E�ILK�kaaDWT<aB�a;<HG=G;<�f�VWTA=̂;=@Y�A@E=AGa=G;<�RS�?;<=̂E�?TdG?D?�E=TBU�IIK�̀BaY@�l=;AT>@�H@=TGYE�=;�Z@�T>A@@H�

�
������
����/-��������/����C@THG<>Y@B�m�CBH@�nTAo� ���������7"�
�������-�+������pqDTYG=B�T<H�\GX@AEG=B�� �;̀??D<G=B�̀;̂@EG;<��rTAA;bG<>�=̂@�sTW� �����

kAG>G<T=;At� l=@X@<�uGYoG<E;<��Q@Yt� LIIS��ShihMMN�

� uTAH�:@?Z@AE�a;<EDY=@H�� � �v@E�

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



� � ��

� � ��

���������	
��
�����
����	�
����	�����	
�����
����������
������	�
������
����	�������
������	
�����������
�
������	�
	������������
������
����	 �������������
����	���
��
���	 ����
�	��
�����������!��"��#�	�����
��	���
��$��
����������	�
��������������������	���	�
���������	����
��������	������������������		����
������
�������%��	��
��&��'
�	��
����	�
���
����	��	��
�	
��
�������
���������%�	���������������	���
���(���
��	���	�
���
�����������	��
�	�
���� )*+,-./0+)-*1���� 2����������	�
�����������	���	
�3
�	������4��	�'�����'���������������������5���	�������������������6
��	�����
���
������
���4�����% �7��	�%��	������'��
���2�����5���	��	�	���89:�;<=:�>?@A�B:CD:A>�EF�>?:�GBEDFHA�>?<>�>?:�<IIJ@K<>@EF�L@JJ�B:ADJ>�@F�<�H:B:J@K>�MD@JH@FG�N>?<>�KDBB:F>JO�A:BP:A�FE�IDBIEA:�MD>�>E�M:�<�AEDBK:�EQ�P<FH<J@A;R�M:KE;@FG�EF:�>?<>�@A�<KK:I><MJ:�>E�>?:�JEK<J�KE;;DF@>OS�@A�@F�<KKEBH�L@>?�TUU�IEJ@K@:A�QEB�>ELF�K:F>B:�DA:A�<FH�@F�<HH@>@EF�Q@JJA�<�G<I�@F�>?:�:KEFE;@K�A>BDK>DB:�EQ�V:<H@FGJ:OW�9:�<JAE�FE>:�>?<>�>?:�XJ<FF@FG�Y:BP@K:�?<A�IB:P@EDAJO�GB<F>:H�<�B:A><DB<F>�I:B;@AA@EF�<>�>?@A�JEK<>@EFS�L?@K?�@A�<F�DFAD@><MJ:�IB:K:H:F>�<A�@>�<MD>A�B:A@H:F>@<J�IBEI:B>OS�<FH�>?:�KE;;DF@>O�<FH�:J:K>:H�;:;M:BA�KEFA@H:B�>?:�<I<B>?E>:J�DA:�<�A@GF@Q@K<F>�@;IBEP:;:F>�EF�ME>?�>?<>�<FH�>?:�KDBB:F>�A@>D<>@EFZW����� 7�����	��	�	�����
�
�����
�����������������	�
��%�	����	���[�������4����%�����	������������	�����	��	�	���4����[��������
�������	��	�	��������
����	�%
�������������
�������	������	�
��	���4��� ��	�����
���������	��	��\���	�
�� ������	�
�	����	���]�������#���
�	�
��3����� �������	������	��������
����	��	
����
�	�	����������	�
��	
�'�����'������
����	������	�
�����/̂ ._+̀ a�a)*0̀ �̂,̀ b)-/a�̂_*̀ c1���� 2����������	�
��%��������
������
����������	�3
�	������4��	�'�����'�����
��de�d(��d�����	�	���'��������	��
��	�%������
�����	
��������
�������	�
���
��	����������
��������	�
�����"�� [��������
�
�	�������
����������	�������
���	�
���������	�
��	
�	����
��
%��
������	��
��	���������f�g�h:KEFA@H:B<>@EF�EQ�H:A@GF�EQ�L@FHELA�L@>?�B:G<BH�>E�P:B>@K<J�:;I?<A@AS�A>OJ:�<FH�A@JJ�?:@G?>AW��g�h:KEFA@H:B<>@EF�EQ�BEEQ�H:A@GF�>E�M:�;EB:�@F�=::I@FGiAO;I<>?:>@K�L@>?�EB@G@F<J�jklmn�opq�rlosmnt�nmuvw�on�wxynmypz{��g�|}IJ<F<>@EF�QBE;�<IIJ@K<F>�<A�>E�?EL�MD@JH@FG�@A�>E�M:�P:F>@J<>:H�L@>?�I<B>@KDJ<B�B:G<BH�>E�FEF:�EI:F@FG�L@FHELA�M:K<DA:�EQ�FE@A:�KEFK:BFA�<FH�<FO�~w��opy�ov�~wopn��s��wpmyvomy�p��wypz�n�nmoypo�vw�yp��yw���s�qw�volwq�jrvy~omw�w~wlzwp�ut{��g�h:CD:A>�QEB�L<BH�;:;M:B�>E�<>>:FH�I<F:J�>E�AI:<=�<A�>?:O�<B:�@F�ADIIEB>�EQ�>?:�<IIJ@K<>@EF��g�UEFH@>@EF�ADBP:O�B:CD@B:H�>E��DA>@QO�>?<>�>?:�IBEIEA<J�@A�>?:�EI>@;D;�AK?:;:�QEB�>?:�MD@JH@FG�MD>�FE>�@FKJDH@FG�<�P@<M@J@>O�<AA:AA;:F>W��g��E@A:�<AA:AA;:F>�>E�H:>:B;@F:�>?<>�>?:�@F>:B@EB�EQ�>?:�MD@JH@FG�L@JJ�?<P:�<KK:I><MJ:�FE@A:�J:P:JA�L@>?@F�@F�@>�M:K<DA:�EQ�KEFK:BF�EP:B�IBE}@;@>O�EQ�M:HBEE;A�>E�M<K=�:HG:�EQ�QEE>I<>?�<FH�<DH@MJ:�I:H:A>B@<F�KBEAA@FGW��
Page 14



� � ��

� � ��

���������	���
���
����������
����
��	������
���������������������
������������	
��
����������������������
��������������
��������������
����������������������������������������	��������������������������������� �����  !"!#$�%�!$&#'(�"!#$�)�!*����+�,��$�'�*�!-� �!$�'�%�"!#$�"#�"����,#-���*"!#$+�&#%%#)!$.�&/'"��'�$�.#"!�"!#$+�!+� �"�!%� �,�%#)0��1234567829:;745�4<�8267=5�4<�>7584>6�>7;?�92=:98�;4�@29;73:A�2BC?:676D�6;EA2�:58�67AA�?27=?;6��F�-!+� �G%�$+���-��,��$�'�*�!-� �+�#)!$.�"���%#)�'�*!%%�#&�"���G'#G#+� �)!$ #)+�'�!+� �"#�'�&%�*"�"����H!+"!$.�*!%%���!.�"+������)!$ #)� �+!.$���+��%+#�,��$��(�$ � �"#�'�"�!$�"����H!+"!$.�G'#G#'"!#$+��$ �-�'"!*�%��(G��+!+�#&�"���)!$ #)+����1234567829:;745�4<�944<�8267=5�;4�I2�B492�75�J22C75=K6EBC:;?2;73�>7;?�497=75:A�LMNOP�QRS�TNQUOPV�POWXY�QP�YZ[PO[R\]��������GG%!*�$"���+�� -!+� �"��"���-!$.�'�-!�)� �"���*#+"+��++#*!�"� �)!"��"���'�G%�*!$.�"���'##&̂��+�)�%%��+�"���#$.#!$.�*#+"�#&�_��G!$.�"���G'#G�'"̀� /��"#�"��� �%�̀�)!"��#,"�!$!$.�G%�$$!$.̂�"����GG%!*�$"� �*! � �"#�'�(#-��"���"�!' �&%##'�#&��**#((# �"!#$��a$�%!.�"�#&�"�!+��(�$ � �G%�$+���-��,��$�'�*�!-� �+�#)!$.�"���#'!.!$�%%̀�G'#G#+� � #'(�'�)!$ #)+�'�(#-� �&'#(�"���+*��(���$ �'�G%�*� �)!"��*#$+�'-�"!#$�+"̀%��+_̀%!.�"+��b+�+/*��"���+"̀%���$ �&#'(�#&�"���'##&�!+�,�!$.�'�"�!$� ��+��H!+"!$.�����cdCA:5:;745�<94B�:CCA73:5;�:6�;4�?4>�Ie7A875=�76�;4�I2�@25;7A:;28�>7;?�C:9;73eA:9�92=:98�;4�5452�4C2575=�>7584>6�I23:e62�4<�54762�34532956�:58�:5E�fYghQR[gQX�fYQRP�iU�jYRO[XQO[iR�kY[R\�PlPOQ[RQkXY�[R�j[Ym�iU�SYgXQNYS�LTX[fQOY�YfYN\YRgWV]��������GG%!*�$"���+�� -!+� �"��"�"��̀��'��G'#G#+!$.�"����G�'"�#"�%�"#�,��(�*��$!*�%%̀�-�$"!%�"� ̂��+�"�!+�)!%%��%%#)�*#$"'#%�"���'##(�"�(G�'�"/'�+��$ �!+�'�n/!'� �"#�'� /*��$#!+��%�-�%+��$ ��$+/'��+�&�"̀�#&�"���./�+"+��a$��  !"!#$̂�(�*��$!*�%�-�$"!%�"!#$�G'#"�*"+�#**/G!�'+�)��'��"���%#*�%��!'�n/�%!"̀�!+�G##'��a"�!+�"���(#+"�*#((#$�(�"�# �#&�-�$"!%�"!#$�&#'��#"�%+�&#'�"��+��'��+#$+���12oe26;�<49�>:98�B2BI29�;4�:;;258�C:52A�;4�6C2:J�:6�;?2E�:92�75�6eCC49;�4<�;?2�:CCA73:;745�������GG%!*�$"���+�+G#_�$�"#�"���%#*�%�p�' �q�(,�'+�!$�'�%�"!#$�"#�"���+G��_!$.��"�"���r�$�%������r%�$$!$.�s&&!*�'���+��%+#�$#"!&!� �"���%#*�%�p�' �q�(,�'+�#&�"���r�$�%�(��"!$.��$ �"���'�n/�+"�&'#(�"���G'�-!#/+�r�$�%���a$��**#' �$*��)!"��"���r�$�%�r/,%!*�tG��_!$.�r'#"#*#%̂�)�!%+"�+G��_!$.�'!.�"+���-���%'�� ̀�,��$�/"!%!+� �&#'�"����GG%!*�"!#$�#$�uv�uw�xuxx�"���y��!'��.'��+̂�!$��H�'*!+!$.�"��!'� !+*'�"!#$̂�"��"�G�'(!""!$.�&/'"��'�+G��_!$.��+� �"�!%� ��,#-��)#/% �/+�&/%�&#'�"��� �"�'(!$�"!#$�#&�"����GG%!*�"!#$����z4587;745�6e9@2E�92oe7928�;4�{e6;7<E�;?:;�;?2�C94C46:A�76�;?2�4C;7BeB�63?2B2�<49�;?2�Ie7A875=�Ie;�54;�753Ae875=�:�@7:I7A7;E�:66266B25;|��������GG%!*�$"���+�+"�"� �"��"�.!-�$�"���'�(#-�%�#&�"���'##&��H"�$+!#$+̂�"�!+�!+�$#�%#$.�'�'�n/!'� ����
Page 15



� � ��

� � ��

��������������	
�
����
����	��

�
�

���	
���������

��������	�������
���������
�����	��������������

�	��	��
��������������	���	�������������
��������������
������������������
��

��	���������������
���	�������	����������� �!"#$%&���� ��" '&�($��)  '�#*�+�, ,�)-�&( �$##.�%$'&/�0( �,�%1" '&�($��)  '�* +� 2 ,�)-�&( �3'+�*�'" '&$.�4 $.&(�0 $"�5�  �%�'�1.&$&��'�* �#�'� ��� %&��'��6�* #�*&7/���8	
��	����������	�
�����������	�����������������
��

���

�����������

��������	������������

�����	������
���	�

�����
�������0( �$##.�%$'&�($��$,+�� ,�&($&�&( �* +�� ,�#.$'���'%.1, ��'& *'$.�* 9%�'6�:1*$&��'�2�&(��' ��6�&( �&2��:*�1',�6.��*�) ,*��"��) �':�"�+ ,�6*�"���*&(�;$' � . +$&��'�&��< '' &&�=�$,/�4�2 + *>�,1 �&��&( ��#$% �%�'�&*$�'&�>�&( -�2 * �1'$). �&��"�+ �&( �� %�',�) ,*��"�)1&�&( �'��� �2�..�) �"�&�:$& ,�)-�&( �" %($'�%$..-�+ '&�.$& ,�&*�#. �:.$? ,�2�',�2�/���@�	������
��	�����
�

���

���������	���	
��	������
��������

�������
�	
��	��0( �$##.�%$'&�($���&$& ,�&($&�&( -�$* �(�#�':�&��* &$�'���" ��6�&( ��*�:�'$.�#$*A1 &�6.��*�':�5�6�#����). 7�$',�$.����'%�*#�*$& �#.$A1 ��6*�"�#* +��1��* 61*)��(" '&���6�&( �#*�# *&-��'�&( �.�))-�$* $/��B/� !'��1""$*->�&( �"$�'�%($': ��&��&( ��%( " ���'% ��&�2$��.$�&�%�'��, * ,�$&�C$' .��'%.1, �&( �* "�+$.��6�&( ��*�:�'$..-�#*�#�� ,�,�*" *�2�',�2��$',�&( �*�* #.$% " '&�2�&(��D-.�:(&�>�$�* ,1%&��'��'�&( �'1") *��6�) ,*��"��6*�"� �:(&�&��6�+ �5�'%�* "�+$.��6�&(�*,��&�* -��6�$%%�""�,$&��'7>�%($': ��&��6 ' �&*$&��'E, &$�.�':>�.$-�1&�%($': ��$',�&( ��1)"�����'��6�$�'��� ��"#$%&�$�� ��" '&/�0( �* #�*&�) .�2�($��)  '�$" ', ,�&��* 6. %&�&( � �* +����'�/���FGHFHIJKL�M/� 0( �#*�#��$.�* .$& ��&��&( �%($': ��6�1� ��6�&( �6�*" *�%�""1'�&-�% '&* �5N� �O.$���PQ7�&��$#$*&(�& .�5N� �O.$���OR7>��'%.1,�':�$��' ��&�* -� S& '���'��+ *�&( � S��&�':�)��. *�*��">��'� *&��'��6��D-.�:(&�>�* %�'6�:1*$&��'�$',��1)9,�+����'��6�� *+�% �-$*,�$* $>�)�'��&�* �$',�)�D ��&�*$: /�T/� 0( �#*�#��$.�2�..�%* $& �$�U9) ,*��"�$#$*&(�& .�2�&(�$%%�""�,$&��'�$%*����Q�6.��*�/�0( �$%%�""�,$&��'��66 *����$�"�S&1* ��6�R�) ,*��" ,��&1,����$',�$#$*&" '&��5V��&1,���>�Q�$#$*&" '&�7/���%�'6 * '% �*��"�$',� '&*$'% �.�))-�$* �$.���#*�+�, ,�$&�:*�1',�6.��*�. + ./�W/� �'�$#$*&(�& .����$�� *+�% ,�$#$*&" '&�%�"#. S�2�&(�$�D�&%( '�$',�� #$*$& �.�+�':�$',��.  #�':�$* $��2�&(�'�&( ��',�+�,1$.�*��"�/�0( �$##.�%$'&��($+ �$,+�� ,�&($&�&( * �2�..�) �'��61..9&�" �" ") *���6��&$66�$&�&( �%�"#. S/�!'�& $,�:1 �&��2�..�) �� '&�$�#�'�%�, �2(�%(�2�..�:�+ �&( "�$%% ���&��&( �)1�.,�':�$',�&��%( %D9�'/�0( �#*�#�� ,�$'%�..$*-�%�'6 * '% �*��"�2�..�) � S%.1��+ .-�$+$�.$). �&��:1 �&���&$-�':�$&�&( �$#$*&(�& .�2�&(�$�%$#$%�&-��6�1#�&����S�# �#. X�'�� S& *'$.�)��D�':�2�..�) �# *"�&& ,/���RY/�0( �#*�#��$.��'%�*#�*$& ��'1" *�1�� S& *'$.�%($': ��&��&( � S��&�':�)1�.,�':/�0( � ��'%.1, Z��
Page 16



� � ��

� � ��

���������	
���
�
���������������

��	�����������
���������������������������
������	��	���������������������������
���������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������� !�"����������������
���������������������������##��$���������
�	������
�������

�����������������������������������������������
����
����������$�������������

�������	
���
�
����
��%������&��
�'()#*��
���������������$�������������

�������	
�����������������
�������������
��&�
��%����������
�'()#*��#)��$�������
�	����������	����������	��%����������

��������������+�������������������������
��	��%�������	��	���������������������������������������������������������������������,-./�012�,3445312-16,7��# ��$���������������
������������������������������������
�����������������	����������
�������������
��������������������	��������
�������������������	
�������+��������8���������
����������������$������
���������������	���������	�������������������������������9��������"�������������$������
�����������������������������:�������������������������������������������
�����������������
�����������#;��$������
���������������
�������������������������
����������������������������������8������
���������
�����������������:��������������������������������
�������#<��$������
����������������������������=������
���8������������+�������������������������������������������	�����������
������$���������
���
��������������������������>�����??�
���������
�����������=������
���$�	������������	�����
��
������
�����������	��������������������

����#@��$������
����������������#!A)���������������
��BCCD�ECFGHDIJCKLM�NOBJHP�JHBQFQK�FDG�	�
�������������$���	��	����������������

����������%�����������������
������$������������������������������������:��������������%����
�����& !�"�����������*���������������������
�������������
�����������������������	��$�����������
���������������

��RSGCQDHMCG�HD�TUVWXVT�FDG�HYLM�YZHM�NZFMC�S[�GC\�
�	���������������������������������������		���������������������������
����������������	������������������

�����
�����������������������
��������8�����

����
������
��������������
���������
�����$���������������������
������������������������#!A)����
�������������������������������	���������

����������������#!A)����
�����������������

���������
�������]��	�������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������	�������������������������������������������	���������#'��$�������������������������������=������
���$����8�����������������
�������������������������	��������������������������������=������
���$����8������	������������������������
���
����	������������������������������
�����������
����������������������	��
��������	����
��%�����#!��$���������������
����������������������������	��%����	��������������������	��
���&	����������	
��*�����	��%����	�����������������������������������������������������=������
���$�	��̂��
���=�����������4/_/̀ 01.�a_011-16�b-,.54c7�
Page 17



� � ��

� � ��

����� �����	
���������
�������
�
��
�����������
�������������������������
������
��������	
����	
����� ������ !"#�$%�&�'�����������
	
(���

�����������
	
(��

����	���������
���

����
�����
������������������������
�)�����*���	
��
��
*������&��

�	
������
��+,��������-.�/0����#���1���$%�&�2��
������������������
	
(���

����
�������	�
������	����
���	
�
�	����
���������	�
�������	����+,-0�+,��������-.�30����#���4 ��$%�&�2��
������'������5������2����
	
(�2�

���+2�����6�0�
��7��
����

�+2�����,30��
�����
��	
�������
�
*���
���(��8
�
�	�
�
�������+,��������-.�30����1����4��$%�&�2��
�������������������������
	
(���

���+����������6�0�
�����
����

�+����������,30��
����
���
	�
��	
����	
���8
�
�	�
�+7��������&�-.�-0�9�:;;<=>�?@AB@AA<?��-.�� C�
���(�*	
�	
�
���-.�-�������������	��
	�
�*�	���*����	��	������
��������
���D
����
���
�
���
������	
	���
�
�������
����8	�
	
���������������
����8	�
	
����	��	
����
����
�������
��
�
����8
�
�	�
�����������	
�
��
�	
�
�
���*������������������
��
��
���������
������
�����	��	
����
�
����	
��+�
��
���E���	
���(�2�
�����
	�
�,���0��
�������
�����

	
�����
���
�	������	
��F�����DD��	�
���E���	
���(��������-��� G��������

�(H���	���
��
�������	��	�
����
�	�����

	
������	��
	�
������&����	��
	�
��
I�	�(�+J7K,JJL-.L../.M0�*�������	

����(�
������������	��

���
�����

��������
I�	�(�����
���
��
���NOPQPRPSTUVPWX�TY�XZP�[\XP�XT�]̂P_XP�_�̀aAbcd<e�=;=dbfcb<>�gchA@Ab@hi�cj�=�kccl=k><�gchj<d<hg<�dccB�=h?�A><<;@hi�=ggcBBc?=b@chm�nf<�=;=dbfcb<>�o@>>�;dcp@?<�qq�dccBA�=h?�o@>>�B<=ArdP�stu�[vVwx�nf<�j<<?k=gl�bc�bf@A�<hyr@d<�g=h�k<�ArBB=d@A<?�=A�jc>>coAz���{�|}~���������~������~��������������}��~������}~����~�����������~�~�����~�����~�{��~���������~����~�~��������}~�����������}������~����~������������~�~����~������
�
��	
���
�
�������
����	
��{�|}~�������~���~����������~�~��~������}~���~&����	��
	�
��
���������
�
��
�����*	
��
������

	
���	�
��(����
����	
���
����
���
	�
�����
������	
	������
�����������
�	������
�������������
��
���2�
�����
	�
�,����{�������~��������������������~�������
����(�
���2��
�	������
��	
��	����
����
���
����(����	
��������
���{�����~�����~�~�����~������~������������������&�	
�����)	
���
������������	��
�����
	
(�����������
���������

�3����

�

�7����������%����������� ¡¢��£¢¡¤��--�� ��������	��
	�
�*��������
	������������
	
��
���������
����������
�����
	�
�������
��
�����

	
��������	�
�����	��	
���¥	
��
�
	����*�������
�������
��
����	
���
��
�������	��
	�
��������
�����	�	����	
�
���¦��)��	���K��
	
��J��
���������
�����

��	
��
�
	����*�������
����
�-���.�-.-�H�*	
��
���
�*������������
���	
������	������
��§�.̈�-.-���������
��
����
������������
���&�����
	����
��
�����	�	
�����

�	��
���H�*	
��
��������	
�����������

����	
�����.��-.--����
Page 18



� � ��

� � ��

���� ����	

���
���
�������
�����������	��
����	�������������������
��������
	��
���
�����
	�����������
������������������	��
������
����
���
������
������
������
�
�������
��
������
��	���
��������	
��
������������ ����
������
������
�����	������	��������
�
�	
�����	��� ��

�����������	������!����
��
!�����
�������������������
����������
������	�"����
�������������������
��	
�
��
����������	��������
�
�	
���

��
�������������
�	�!��
���������������#�� ���������	
��
��������	����$%	!���������
�
����������
���
�������	�"����
��	��������������
������!��
���������������	�	����&
��
�����
��
�
��"��������� ���������	���	�����	������
���������
����'(���)�� ��
����	�	���
�������
��
������
���	�������������������
��*�����+����������������
��������	���������



������
������,��-�.
�
������
����
�������
�
�������������
�������
������������	
���	��
�����
�
�����-�/�
�
������������	�
���
��	"�������������
���������
�!�
���������
������-�0�!����
�������	��	���	

���1�������0
	�����	�������
���!���
�
�����

���-�2��
����������������������	������-�0�����������
�	��
���	������
���!
���	����
�������	��3�	��
!���
�������	����������

���-�����

�������
������
��
������������	�����
	�
!�	�"�	������������
���	���!�	�������	�!������������
��	����	��
�!����	�
������	���
�
��� �
	����
������������
��������

�����-�2��������
������	�����
�	
�����
���
������.
����*	����	4	����������!����
����������
�����
�
������
����������������	��
������1�������0
	���	4	������������
���
��5
��	
�	���������	
�	
���������-�������
�
�����
��	��
��	������.
���6��	��
�������������	����
���
	��
�������
���������
���������
�	���
��	

����������
���������
�����	��� �������
��	����
�
�����-�/�
�
�����
����������������	���������	
�	������������
��7���+�����!�8�
�����
�	�!8�	�������������-�2������	�!������
���������	������
���	

������������
��������
�
�����������	��
����

��
��� �����
���	������!��	��������
������ ���������!
����
����������
�������������
����
���	����	������	���	�	����
��������
�
�����
��	��
����
������
���6��	��
���������
�������
��������
�����	����
��
������������
�����	��
��	��	�	�����	��!����
�������	���
���������
�
�����
������ �����
�����9�� :�����
�	

!��	��	��
�������	
�	�����	�
��
�����
��������	������������������
��+

��;	
��	���
�����	
��
��	

�<�	����
�!�=�<!���/	�"�;	���%����������������
���
�������������������
��������	���������



������
����,�� -�������
�
�	
���

��������	��������
������
������!���������������	���
�����
���	���
	���	�������	��������	�����!��
������������	���
�������
������!��-��������
������	��
���
���
��
��	
����
������
������!������������������	���-�������
�
�����������	��	�����	�
���
���+����������������	��
���������*++��

������	�����������

��������

���

�	��	�����������
�
��������������
��<�	����
�!�-�:�	���
��
���
�
�	
��	���	���������	�������
�������
����������
��������	��	�����������
��
��������������� >?@ABCDEDF?@�GHAI?@AHAJ��
Page 19



� � ��

� � ��

���� ����	
��
���������	
��������	�
������
�	���
	�
�
	�����������	����
	��	��
�	��
	����������	
������	��
���

��������
�	���
�
�����
��������
��
�	���
�	
�

	�
�	�
��
	��
� ��
	�
�	
	����
�
�����������	��������	�������!
		�������

����
�	������
����
���!
		�
�	�����

��
�����	�	���	
�����!����
�	��
����	���	�������������"�� #�����$��������	�	%��
���
�
	����
�	��
����	����	��		������
�����
����
���	
	
���	���	
�	
�
�	�����!	������	����������	
	�����	�
���	�����
������	�������

�	
�����
��
�������
	 ��
	��
�������
�����������	���
��������	
����������	���&���������	���	�
�����������	�
�����
�	��	��!�����
�	��	�	����	�
����
	 ��
	��
��	���
	��
�
	��	�
�'	�����	�����������
��
	
��������
���
��	�	�������������
��
����
��
���!���(����	
(�����	
���
	!�
���!�
�	����)������
)��!����	��		�����
	��	����
��
�����
���������*+�� ,�����-��)�.���!	�	�
��������	�
����������	�
�
��
�	�������
��������������!������
��������	��������
������
	��������
	����
����,�����/��	�0�����
�	
	����	��		�����
	��
��������(�
	�	�
��������!���
����
�	��
��	

(��
������	�
��
	����&�����
����
	��	�������������	�
���	��
��
�
�	
	��������
�	
�)�����������
��)�������
	 ��
	���
�!�
�������������������
����
�	��
����	���	�	����	�
��&��
�	��
����	���	�	����	�
��
����������������
�
	���
������(�����!	��
��
�	����	
�	���	��
	�������
��
�
�	��	�	����	�
���������	��
���
����	���(�	%��
��!������������
���	���
	
�����	�
������
�	��,-.���������
����!	�
	��
	�����	�
�����
��
�	��
���������*0�� 1�!���(���	�����������	�
����������	�
�
��
�	�������
��������������!������
��������	���
	�������	�����	���
���������

�����

������(��	����)�����	���
	��������	�����
��
		��	�	����	�
�����!�
��
�	����
������	�����
��������
�	��
	�����'����	�
	����	�������������
(��	�

	����	���������
�'���	
�
�
����	�	
�������		��
��	���
	�
��
���
�
	�
	���	�
��������
	����	
��������	����
	����
�	�	��

��!	�	�
��	�
�	
����
	����(��!
		�	�
���
���	�����)��!���
����2	�!��	����������
��
����'����)��!��(�
	�3��-	�	
	��	�������	�
������

��!	�	�
���
��1	����!�	(������
����	����
����%���
)��!�����	����
����
��	
'����
�
���
)��!�����������	����	��������	���
	�
�����������
	���	
�������������
��	�
��
�	���
	���*��� &��	��������	
��4	
������������
�	��
����	���	�	����	�
�������	����	�����	�������������	�������	���
��$����(�$0+����
�	���
	�5

�
	!(��
	�
	 ��
	�����**�� 6���
���	�
���1	��
�������	
��4�	�
��
�	���
	������
�����	�
�
���
��	�
���
���	���
�����
	��
��
�����	��
���
	�	��	
������
����

��������
��!�
	
��
��	��������	�!
	�
	
�
����
���	�
	��
�	�����
�	���
�
�����	����	���	�
����	

�)	�����7��(���	��
�	�����
�
(�����
��	�
�������	�
�
�	��
	�����	�
	���	������	����	���	�
����������
�
)�����	
	��	��	
�		����	���
��	�
���
	����(���
��!�
�	�����	
��������������(����
���������	�	����	��!�
(������(���8���!�	
���
��!�
�	������
���!�
�
��	��	
�����
���00���
��9�����
���!���	�	%�	�
���������
�	�����	��
���
	�	��	
�����
�	��

		
�
�����	�����

	���	
�		��00�������*�������	����	���	�
��������	������
�����������	
	��
�	���	��������	�
�
��!���
�	�������
���	������
��������!���������	�!������	�
���	�	�
�
�	���
�!�
�����(��	��!��
��	���
	����
���	���
	
��������	��	�	�����������	�	���
	
��������	��	�	������
���	���
�
	�
�������		�������!����	�������
���!��:��!������	����������	�
���
�����(�
	����
���	�
�
	���	
(������		���
����	��������������������		��
��
	���������	��
����
�!�
	�	%
	
��������	��
���
����

�����������	�	�

�������
���	��
���!�
���&�
���!��
�	�����	�
	��

��	����

�
	�����������	���
����
������!������	������
	
��������	��	�	����
�	
	�
	��������
��)�
��
�!��	��
�	��
�%���
(�
��
�	����
��(������	�	�

�����
�����!�
��
�����(�
	�	��	
���������
��������	���		�����
�
����	��	���
	�
�	���!����	������
�������!��:��!���	�
��
�	����
��
	
����
�	����������	��
����!����
Page 20



� � ��

� � ��

�����������	�
��	�
�	��
�������	
��������������	�
��������
����������
�	�	��������������������
����������
�������������
������������	���������
���������
���������������
������������������	�����������
���	����
�	�������������
����
��������
�����������
��
������	
��������
�	��
��������
�������������
���������������
����
��������
������������	��
���������	�����������	�
��
���������������������	������������	�
�����
�������
���	�
��
���	���������	���
��
���������������������������	���
������
���������������
����
���������������������
���������
�	��������������	�
��
��������������������
�����	��������� �����
������
���������������	�����
	���������
�����
������	�������	������������������!"#"$%&'�(#%&&)&*�(+#),)"-.��/0�� ��������/1234��������5�
������
�	� ����������5����
���6���7880������������
����
������
�����
������
���	��������	����
����	
����
��������9�����������5�
�:���������
����
�������	��
��������	��
��������
���������9�����������5�
������;��	����������������������������� �������
�����
��
���	�	�������� �������
���������������<����
�278=>4:������6����
������5�
��278=>4:�?
���
��<���������
�	�@
����;��
��5�
��2?<@;54�278=/4������	����������	����������A����
���=/�
�	�=0�278=B4:�6����C
�����6��
�6������5�
��278=D4:��
��	�����������������E95<�278834�
�	�
����
	��?�����������	�5�
����/B��  ������
�����
��
F����������D7��������5�
������2;����	�G���	�����
�	� ������
�����6��
�4�6���=>>8���
������
�����������������:�
���������������
�������	���������������
�	����
��������
�����
��
����
���������������	�������5�
������6���:���
�������
��
�����������
�������
	��������	����
���������������������������
������������
�
��������
���
�
���������
��
��
�����/3�� ;����	�G���	���F���������332=4��������5�
������2;����	�G���	�����
�	� ������
�����6��
�4�6���=>>8���
������
����������	������
������������
�����
������������������������	�����������
�����
�������
������	�����	������������������:��������
����
������
���������HIJKLL�JKMN�IONPQKL�RNSKRT�UV�UJN�TNIQRKWQLQUX�VY�ORNINRMQZS�UJN�W[QLTQZS�VR�QUI������������
�����
��������������
��
����������
�����������������������
��������������������� ;��
��5�
������5�����F��  �������
�����
��
���	�	�278=>4��/D�� ���������
�������������
��������
��F�� -\]̂_]̀�(à_bc�dF�eQNRKRPJX�VY�fNZURNgI�KZT�hOKUQKL�KOORVKPJ�UV����
�����:��������:�������������������
�	����������(i.�j	�ZUQYQNI�kVlZ�KZT�mVPKL�fNZURNgI��(d.�j	���������
�����
������������
�	���������	��������
�� NZURNgIn��(o.� ����������
���������
�	����������������(ipF�������������������
����
�	��������������
����	������	�
�	����������������������(iiF�������������������
�������
���
������
�����������	�
�	����
���	�'dF�������������������
����
�	�����������	���������
�������

���
�����
�	������	����
��������������������������"&q.�A
�
���������	�<�����
Page 21



� � ��

� � ��

����������	
������
�
�������������� ��������������
������������� ��!�"�#
 ���$�% �&
 '��(�%%����
 �
��
�#�% ���	��#��(�%%����� ���
������ ��
)�#�*�
+�����,��
���	��������� -./�0�1��� 
��%�
������	����#� 
������234�5����� 
������
�#��6���������7�8�0�������9�!"��#�����
�#��6���������9��(���� �
#:
	�������	���� )
�����
 �
���(�"�#�% ��� )��� ���(
�	���(��	(
 
	�� �� �
%%�
 
�	������(��
 �
�!'����" �����(
�;����<(���������
�#��	
�������(��!"��#����������(
 &��'�9��(��(��
#:�������!"��#�����
�#��(��
 �
�
��
�9(���=��������
���#�#����������(��!"��#����$���	�"#�����(�� ����	
%������"	(��(
���(��% �%� ����������(��%
 ��� ��
�������
	(���(� �
�#����
#:�������!"��#����=�����<(��&
�� �
���"��#�
 ��
%% �% �
�������(����)� ��&����
 �
�
�#��'&%
�(���	����
#:�������!"��#������>(� ��
���	
��&
�� �
���%���	'��6����$��(����(�"�#�!��	�&%���#�9��(=���)���
 ��"��
��������������)�������(��#������
�#�?"
���'����!�"�#
 '�
�#��
�#�	
%��� �
�&������@AB�C���&��������� � �&�)
�������(� ���
�" ���9(�	(�	��� �!"�������(��	(
 
	�� �����(������� )
������ �
�
�#�9(�	(�
 ���"!:�	�����%�
������	��� ��$��"	(�
��� ���$�!�"�#
 '�9
����� � 
������$�9����!�� ������#��2�D�0���)���%&����9��(���	���� )
�����
 �
��9������ &
��'�!�� �?"� �#����!������ 
#�����
����	
��&
�� �
������E
�" 
��+���" 	���
�#�>
����F�	
��
�
���E+>F
���G��� 1��� 
��
���	'���� 1��� 
��%�
������	����#� 
������>
�� �G�� � ��)���%&�������H���#�+��I�� �
��>
�� �,�� � H���#�+��I�������&�����>
�� �J�� � �" �
	��>
�� �+"��K���F
�#��� � � F
�#�	���
&��
�������L&� �����F�	
��
���	'��G��� MNOPQRSTNU�7NQSVWXYZVXXP�.TOR���<(������������9��(����(��[�
#�����'�E���(!�" (��#�� �
����E���(!�" (��#�
�
�����	"  ����'����% �%
 
������� ��(��
 �
��<(��
�
�������9�
��
��
#)
�	�#���
�����)����(
�����(
��!�����"!:�	�����\�#�%��#����L6
&��
������<(�� �%� ��� �&��(��\�#�%��#����L6
&��� �� �	��)�#�����,��]������$�	��	�"#����(
���"!:�	�����&�#���	
�����$��(��
�
��&������(��̂
��	����#��������
�#���(� � �?"� �&������
�#�	
��% �	��#����
���	
�� ��� ��#"&��<(�� ��� ��#"&��� ��(��E���(!�" (��#�
�
������	(�#"��#�����
I��%�
	������G�(�E�)�&!� ���������1�)����(��)� '�
#)
�	�#���
�������(��E���(!�" (��#�
�
�������&� �����%���	����	
����9�!��
�� �!"��#��������	
���9���(������(��#�	�����0&
I����% �	�����<(���9���(��9������	 �
�������"���9���(���(�"�#��(��E���(!�" (��#�
�
�� �	��)�#�_�̀abcd�efgb�_g�ghb�"%	�&���� ��� ��#"&��<(�� ���)
���%���	��������(���&� �����E���(!�" (��#�
�
��
 ��	����#� �#����!�;�
Page 22



� � ��

� � ��

� ��������	
���
	��������������������������������������	
���������	��
�����������������	��
������	�������� 	!�	������"�#�����������������	
���$�����"�#�����������%&'� ��(�)����*
++(�,�����-�.(���	�
��
	�������%/'� *.��*���������	
���
	���*.��0�����.���	�
�*.��*
���	��1(��2�1������	��
�����(	,����3,��
���-��%%'� "�����
��	(����(��������(	,�����,��
���-��������&4��� �����&567�	�����+��������89:�;<=>�?:@A?8�AB�CDEFG8:�C9GBH:I��%J'� "���.(���	�
�����&55KL��(��
�	��������(	,��������
������&55KL�������
��������(	,����,	�	
��	����������+���	�������������(�+�	��	+(����$�+(���,��	�
'�"����..M�,������(�������+���
��+��6J&�����#	��	��M��������J/����������+(���	�
��-���,����
(����(+�������+��+(�����	��#�-������������	1
���������	��(����
��	����	��
������
���
����,	��	����	��(	���#	��������1N���	)����$������(	,��������
������&55K'��%O'� P>�@G?8�AQ�89:�CARBSED=>�T:>8�CARBSED�UDGB�VWVW�&5&JL�������
��	(����������+��,����G�D:>>�XG>8:QRDY�DAX�SG?ZAB�:SABAF[I�\9:�CARBSED=>�]:̂:DA@F:B8�UDGB�EBSDR_:>�G��
,1����$�+(���	�
�+�(	�	���#�	�����������,������	���	,L��������������..M'�"���������,����	�(�+(���	�
�����	�����	����	�������,	�	�
�+(���	�
��++(	���	���'������	���(�.�(	�-̀�����	���(�.(���	�
�.�(	�-�M��,�#����a�..Mb��%4'� \9:�<G8EABGD�UDGBBEBH�UADES[�c?GF:XA?d�e<UUcf�>:8>�AR8�89:�gÂ:?BF:B8=>�+(���	�
�+�(	�	���$���3�
(����������#������������!+���������1���++(	��'�h��+��)	������$��,�#����#	��	��#�	���(���((-�+��+�����+(����$�����
�	�
�������������)�(�+,��������1��+���
���'�"����..M�,
���1��������	��������
���	��+��+��	�
�������)�(�+,����+(��L�����	����,����	�(�����	�����	���	��+(���	�
����	�	���'���%K'� "���	�����
��	����$������..M�������������
�������(�
�(���i
	��,����������++(	���	����$���+(���	�
�+��,	��	���,
���1�������,	����	�������������#	���������)�(�+,����+(��L�
�(����,����	�(�����	�����	����	��	����������#	��'���%7'� C9G@8:?�j�AQ�89:�<UUc�?:DG8:>�8A�k:B>R?EBH�89:�̂E8GDE8[�AQ�8AXB�S:B8?:>=I���.���
��+��KO������������̀��lmnoppqpr�stnquqvw�opx�xvuqwqtpw�wytznx�wzsst{|�|yv�{tnv�|yo|�|t}p�uvp|{vw�sno~�o|�|yv����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
Page 23



� � ��

� � ��

��������������	
��
������������������	�
�����	�������������	��	����������	������	���	�������������	�����������
����	����	�����
��������������������
���	��	�������������	�������������������	�����	���������������������	����������
�������	�����������������������������������������������	��	��������	���	����������	����������������	�����	��	����	�
�����	��������������������������������������
��������	����������������������		���������������	������������	����������	�����	��	��������	�����	���������������	����������	��������������������	�������
�	�������
��������������	��������	��������������	����
�����������������	����������������	�������	������	�
�����	����	�����	�	�������������	�����������������	���
����	����������������
�����	�����	�	���������������� ��	������	�����	���������������	��������������������������	���������	�
�����	�������������	��������������������	�����������������������	�����	������������	������	�
�����	������������������������
��	������������
�
��������������������
��������	����������������	�
�����	�����	���������	��������������������	�
�����	���������������	�����������	�������������	�����	���	��	�����
����������	���	��	���	�
�����	����!�����������	������������	�����	��������	��������	���������������������������������
�����	���������������������	�����	�������������������	�����	��	�����
����������	���	��	���	�
�����	����������������������	��	��������	��������������	���	�����������������	��	������������������	�����	���	��������	�������������������������	��������������	����"##$%#$&"'(�)&'()*+���,-.� /01021034�56�780897�8408:���;<%=">�#>"??&?@�"A'B%$&'&()�)B%A>C�"##>D�"�)(EA(?'&">�'()'�'%�#>"??&?@�"##>&="'&%?)����������	�
�����	��������
������������	��������������	�������	���������������������
�	��������	����	�������� ����	�
�����	����������������������	������	�
�����	�����	������������������	�������	���������������������	�������	���������	��������������������	���	�������������������
�	��������������������������������%A'�%F�=(?'$(�)&'()�G(�=%?)&C($(C*+���,H.� I403891�HJ�KL�849�M//N�19O0897�8K�0P4Q9RQS2�T9OOUV97Q2S9V�3O0P97�0SV�780897�8408�849�P1908QKS�KL�4Q24UWX0OQ8Y�ZXQOVQS27�0SV�3O0P97�Q7�LXSV0[9S80O�8K�T408�849�3O0SSQS2�0SV�V9R9OK3[9S8�31KP977�74KXOV�0P4Q9R9.�\KKV�V97Q2S�Q7�0�]9Y�0739P8�KL�7X780QS0ZO9�V9R9OK3[9S8̂�P190897�Z98891�3O0P97�QS�T4QP4�8K�OQR9�0SV�TK1]�0SV�49O37�[0]9�V9R9OK3[9S8�0PP9380ZO9�8K�PK[[XSQ8Q97̂�0SV�8408�M9Q24ZKX14KKV�3O0S7�P0S�3O0Y�0S�Q[3K180S8�1KO9�QS�QV9S8QLYQS2�849�739PQ0O�WX0OQ8Q97�KL�90P4�0190�0SV�9_3O0QSQS2�4KT�84Q7�74KXOV�Z9�19LO9P89V�QS�V9R9OK3[9S8.���,J.� /01021034�H̀-�780897�8408:��� ab���������������������������������������������	��	�����������	�c�����
��������	����
������������	��	�����������d����	�����	�����������	�e��	�����	�������	�	������	������	�������	�������	�������������	��������������������		���	��������������	��������������	��	����������	��������������	�����������	������������������������������	��	���	��������������	����������	���������������	�������������������	�����������	�����������������		�����
�������	�������	��������������������
Page 24



� � ��

� � ��

�������������		�
����	�������	
������������	����������	�����������������������������	���	�������	
���	����������������	
���������	
���	����������������������������	
��������	������������������������������
����������	
��	�������	���
��������������
���������	��
���������������������������	���������������������������������	��������	��	�����������������	���	�����������
������	����	�����	
�
���	��	�����������������������	����������������������������	�����	������	����������	������������������������������������	�����
���	��������������	������������������������	����������	
�����������
�����	�����������	��������������	
��	�����������������	���������������	�������������	������������������������	����	�����	������������������������������	�����������	��	���������	��� ��!"#� �$%&%'&%()�*"+�,-%-.,/��01.2.34(5.6-�-)%-�7,�64-�8.33�9.,7'6.9�,)4:39�;.�&.<:,.9=�.,(.>7%33?�8).&.�7-�<%73,�-4�&.<3.>-�34>%3�9.,7'6�(437>7.,�%69�'42.&65.6-�':79%6>.�46�9.,7'6=�-%@76'�76-4�%>>4:6-�%6?�34>%3�9.,7'6�':79%6>.�%69�,:((3.5.6-%&?�(3%6676'�94>:5.6-,�,:>)�%,�9.,7'6�':79.,�%69�>49.,#�A462.&,.3?=�,7'67<7>%6-�8.7')-�,)4:39�;.�'72.6�-4/���%B�9.2.34(5.6-�8)7>)�&.<3.>-,�34>%3�9.,7'6�(437>7.,�%69�'42.&65.6-�':79%6>.�46�9.,7'6=�-%@76'�76-4�%>>4:6-�%6?�34>%3�9.,7'6�':79%6>.�%69�,:((3.5.6-%&?�(3%6676'�94>:5.6-,�,:>)�%,�9.,7'6�':79.,�%69�>49.,C�%69D4&��;B�4:-,-%6976'�4&�76642%-72.�9.,7'6,�8)7>)�(&454-.�)7')�3.2.3,�4<�,:,-%76%;737-?=�4&�).3(�&%7,.�-).�,-%69%&9�4<�9.,7'6�54&.�'.6.&%33?�76�%6�%&.%=�,4�346'�%,�-).?�<7-�76�87-)�-).�42.&%33�<4&5�%69�3%?4EF�GH�FIJKL�MELLGENOKNPM ���!+#� A)%(-.&�*Q�4<�-).�R$$S�&.3%-.,�-4�>46,.&276'�%69�.6)%6>76'�-).�)7,-4&7>�.627&465.6-#�$%&%'&%()�*TT�,-%-.,/��UVWXY�Z[Y\]̂X_]Ỳ�aWX�]bcdZa�[e�d�c_[c[\X̂�̂XfXg[cbXYa�[Y�aWX�\]̀Y]e]ZdYZX�[e�d�X̂\]̀YdaX̂�WX_]ad̀X�d\\Xah�̀_Xda�iX]̀Wa�\W[jĝ�kX�̀]fXY�a[�aWX�d\\Xal\�Z[Y\X_fda][Y���	������������������	�����������������
��������������
�������������m�n�����������������
��������������	������	��������������	������������	�������������������������gX\\�aWdY�\jk\adYa]dg�Wd_b�a[�]a\�\]̀Y]e]ZdYZXop��!!#� $%&%'&%()�qrr�4<�-).�R$$S�&.3%-.,�-4�9.,7'6%-.9�).&7-%'.�%,,.-,�%69�,-%-.,/��UsYt�Wd_b�a[h�[_�g[\\�[eh�aWX�\]̀Y]e]ZdYZX�[e�d�̂X\]̀YdaX̂�WX_]ad̀X�d\\Xa�ue_[b�]a\����������	��������������	������������
������	�������	����������	
�������������������������	����	
�	��	
�v�����������	m�w�����	�����������������������������
�����xx��������������	
������
�����xx���
�����������������
����	���������������������	������������������������
�������
	�����	����	�������������������	���	�����������������������������
����������������������
�����x��	��xxy��������������	
���
�����x��	��xxy���
���������������	��
����	����	��z�����{�����
��w�������������������������������	��m��!Q#� $%&%'&%()�qrq�,-%-.,�UVWX_X�d�̂XfXg[cbXYa�c_[c[\dg�i]gg�gXd̂�a[�gX\\�aWdY�������	�������������������
	�����	������������
	�����������
��������������������������������
�����
��	����������������	�����������������������	�����	
���������������������\XZj_]Ỳ�]a\�[ca]bjb�f]dkgX�j\Xop��!|#� }���
�����~����������0�IJ�JHHJ�F�GH��N�����K��FKGN�GN�FIJ�MKPNKHK��N�J�GH���NGN�9.,7'6%-.9�).&7-%'.�%,,.-�,)4:39�;.�-%@.6�76-4�%>>4:6-�76�9.-.&57676'�-).�
Page 25



� � ��

� � ��

����������	
��	��
����	������������	����������
���������	���
��������
���	�	��
���	��
���
�����
����
����������	�
������
�
	��������
��
����
������	���
����������
�����
�����	����������������	����
����	�����	�
������
��
�����
����
��
��� ������	������		�	���������
� ����	�
�!��� "��#$
� ������
�������
���
����
�������	�
��	���
�����������	����������
�������	���
����%
���	���������������
�
���������	�
��
����	�������
��������	�
����������
���	����	�������
��
�� �&'()�(**+,*-�� .� /�
����	����
������
��
�
����
	��0�/��	�1
	��
���
��.� 2
�����
���	���
�����	��0�3
���	��	���������
��.� 4
���
	�������
	����.� 2����������	���
�����	��.� 4
��
�
	�����	��.� ���		�	��5���	�
��	��1�	������	����'667'(*'8-�����	����
�����
�
����
	��0�/��	�1
	��
�9�
���#:
� /�
����
������������	���
�2
���	��
��/��	�1
	��
����	����
�/�
����%������������2��
�������
�	�����	�/��	�1
	��
���
�
��������;�<������
�1��
�;����
����	����
����%��������
���1
	��
�������������������������
�
����
	������������
��������������	������
�/�
���
���
�������������
������������	�����
	��
��	�����	���������
�������	�������������
��	�����������	�����	���
���
��
�1�	�
��
	�������
���������������	����
������	���
����������
�������������	�������������������������������	�������
�����������	���������������1
	��
�
���=>
� /�
��������������������
�
	����
���	�
�����
����
���	����������
���	���������	���
��������	������	���
�/��	�1
	��
���
���	�����������
���	?
���������	��
	��	��	����
�����������	�����������������
�/��	�1
	��

��������/1@������
�
�
���	���
���������������	������
�����������
����������
������
�
����
	��������
��������
���	�2
���	��
��/��	�1
	��
���
�
���
���
����
�����
���	��������
����
���������������
�A�����1
	��
���������
	��������������
	
�����������
����	����������
�2��
�
������
�����
�����������
���������
����
��������
�
����
	������
������	�������
�
	��������
�
B�
�	������
���	�
����������	����	����?
����������
���	��������	�����������������
�
�/��������
������	���
�
�����
�������	���
��
����
���=@
� ������	��
���������������:������
�1��
�;����
�������
���������
�
����������������
�
����
	���������
������	���
����������	�
B����	���������������
����
�!���������������	�����
	��
"������������������
�	����
���������	���������
����
�
��
��
�

��	�������	���CDE�FGE�DHIIJCKFL�DECFME�GNOCPF�QEEC�KC�JOE�NF�FGE�OKFE�RHM�N�CJIQEM�HR��
�����	�����
�	����
���������	�����������������
������	���
�/��	�1
	��

�%����
����
����
����	����
������
�����������
������	������
��������
�����

	����
��
������	����
���������		�	���
�������	���	���
����

����
Page 26



� � ��

� � ��

���� ����	
��	�
���������������������������������	�������������	����	��	������
������	����	������	�	�����������������
����������������������
������	���� �����������	���!������	�����������
�
"	
����������	��
��	��	������#��$��� �%��	��
������	
����	����&�'��	
����
������������(��  ����	���	���	�"���
�	��������	��������������������	�	����	��	������%��
	�
�������������	����������
�����"����	��)����	��������
�#�����*�����+���	����
,������������������	���
��"	�
	�
�&���"��"����-����.��
��++/����	���	���"
������%��
	�
���� ������
�	��������	���
���

���
�����	������
���"�
���������� ����0	��	�
��"	�
	�
�	������	������	
���
������������	��
��������
	���������	�������������	�	����"	�
	�
���	��������	�"���������������	���������������
����������������������������	���!�����+��	��������	
��������"	�
	�
�	�������1
��	
����
����	��
������������������	�������"�	������"����	����	����
��
����������������
�
��	
�����
����������������� ����"	�
	�
2��
	��	���	����"���
�����������������������
�����	�������������������������"	�
	�
��"�������������������������
�,"���	�����
�������	������������	�
�������	�
�������)��������������	�����	�	�����������������3�� ����	������-�/�������������	�
�-*	���
�4"	�
	�
���
����������	���!���/�!������5���6"	�����������������
����������������������	���
��"	�
	�
����	�������	�
������	�����
��
����"�
����
	�����������
��	���	�	�������������	�
������"	�
	�
����	�������	�
�������������"�����������	�������	����"��������	����	��	����������	���	�����������������	���7��������������	�
�-*	���
�4"	�
	�
����
����������	���!����/�!������5�����������������	���������	��������������	
��������
��	���	�	�������������	�
����������	�
�����������������������������������������	����������$"����������
������55��������#��$�������������������������������������������	
�	�	�����������
��	
����
����	��
��������-�����	����������	������
����"��	������������
������������	��	��	�������	�
/�����"�
���6"	�����������
�����	��	�
�,"��	�	���	����'�������������������	�	����"����������������������������
����
�#����������8'�����������)������������������	����	���������������
��	
����
�������� ������	��
�1��
����	�	���-%'���%'����
�%'(/��	��	����������
	�
�#�	
���"����
������������	�	����	�����	�����+������	�"�������	���%'��������/���6"	�������
���)��	������"��������������	�������������	������
����
�,"���	���������������	�	�����������
���	���
����������������	
��	�
�������"�	�	������	����
"���������������
��	
������"������9�� $"��������������	�	����	��	������*��
��
������������������
������
�	��������	��
��	��	������#��$����)����������������
����������������������
�����������������������������������	
���	�������������"���"�
	�
�����
���	�������������
	��	���	�������� ���#��$�������������
��
�
��	
��	����)��������������"���	������
����������������������������������	����	�������	�����
����)���
���������)��
�����������������������������"�	�	����+��	�������������"�
�����������������
��������������"�
�
��������
��
�
��	
����
�������
������������������������� ���#��$�
������������������������������	��	������"�
�������"��
�����
�������������������
��	
���������	��������)������������"�	�	������	����������	�����	�
�����������������
�6"��	����������������
���������	���"���	�������)	�
�	��������"�������������
��	
������
��
�����������
"	
���	������������"�����������������	�
�
��"������������ ���	�����5��������*��
�������������
��
������	���
��	
����
�������������:;<=>�?@:?��������	��������0	��	�
�����"�
��������
�����������"
�������0�"���������	����
�����	
��
��
�
��	
�������	���������	�������	��������	������������
��"���	����'���������������"�
�����������
����������������������������
��"	�
	�
�������
	�
������������	�"����������
	��	���	���������
��	
�������	�
���������������	�������	�����	�����������	�"�	�
����	�	����������������)	�
��6"��	�������	�����
�������	�
�������������	���
Page 27



� � ��

� � ��

���������	�
�������	��
������
���	��	�����������������	����������������
��������
���
��	����	���
���������	���
�	��	�
���������	�������������	��	���	�����	��	���
�������	��	���������	�����
������	
�����������
��������
������	����	���	����
��������	��	���������	������������������
�	�����
���������	
���� �� !����������
�
���������	�����
������	������������	��	�����	��������������������	�������	��������
���������
����	��������	���������������
�������
����	�����������	��	�������
�������	������������	�������������	�����������������
���	���	�����	��	������	����
������������"�� !����������
����������������	����	�����������	�������	����
��	���	���������������
�	����������������	�������
����	�����	������������������������������	�����	����������	������	��������	�����
�������������#��	���������	����������
���	������������	������������������������
���
��	���������
�������������	���	���������
��������
���	����������	�������	��������
������
���������
���
�	����������	���������$�� !�������	����%��		��&�	
���	���������
���������������	�������	����	����	��	�������
�����!������������������������	��������
������
���������	������	��	�����������
�������������	���'����	�	����������
�����������
�������	��	
���	��
�������������	��	�������	�������	��������
���������	�������
������	��	������		�������
����������
���
�	�������������������
���	��	����

�	������(������������	�������������������������
�������	�����	������	�������
�����!����������	����	���������������������������

�	���������������	��)��������	�����������������������
���������������������
�	�������������������	��
����
�
�������������
�	����� *�� !������	�������	����+����,����	�������
���������������	���	����������������-��	��.������
������	����
/����	�)��
�����
�!��������������%�����	�
�	���������	�������	����	���
������������
�
�����
�����	�������
��		���	������������������	����������
���������������	�������	��������	�������	��������	��!����������������������	����	�����������	�������	����������+�������
���	�����
��,���
�	�����������	���������
�����������������������������	��	���������	������	�������
������� 0�� )��������	�����������������������������&	���������	�����
�����������	������������������������	
�������������������	����
�������	��������	�����	���
���������	��!���%���������������
����	��	�	�������
�����������������������	������������
���	��	����������������
����	����������	�����#��	���������	�������
����������	�
������������	���
��������������
����	������/��	�������
��������
�������	���!����������������������
����������������	����	���������
���
�	���������������������	����������	����	�������
��������������	��������	����	�������
��������
�������	�����	�����	�����!����������������������������	�����	�����������������	�����	�����������/�������	�����
�������
�����������	����	���!����%��	�����
������
�����

�	���������	����������	����	�����	���	
���
��������
����	���!����%��	������ 1�� 2�������������	���
���������	���������
���
�������������	�������	�����	����������������	�����
���������������	�������	��������
����+���&
������	�
�����	��������	,���
���������	���������������	�������������������
���	��������������	���������	������	�����		�������	����
/����	����	�
�����
������!���������������	��������������
���
�	�������
���	�����������30*���
�300����	���%����4	��	��
������
�5637�3��������839��:6���-0$���
�:% �����
��������	����
���	����	���-33#���
�	�����������������������	����	���)��
�����
�-�����������
�3������� 7���
��	���������	
��
Page 28



� � ��

� � ��

���� �����	
��
��
������
������������������������
�������
��
��
�����������
������������
��
������

����� �� !�����������
�������������
��
�
�����"����#�����$���%
�����
�$$�������
������
��"�
����
�������������
��&��
����
���������'�"����#������
�����������( �����!)�����
��������$���������������
����
����!���������������
����������������������
��
�*��������
�!�"�����
��������������$$�����$���������$����
����#��������������
��$������+����
��#�����������
�%�������#��������+�"��������������
���������������$$��
�����������
���������

��!�����,�������������

��-�.����

�/�����������������
��������0
"��$��
�1��*�"����+��������
�����
��
������������
���2��
�
��#���������$����
�������������
����&������
���+�
����������
����"����#����#,��
�
��
�������������$������������
������0������������������
���1+�
���������
���
����
��������$��
����������� &
��������������
��
�
��
�����������
������������������������$������

�$���
�������
�������������
���3������
��
������������������������
����
�����������
��������������
��
�
�������
���
�����
��������
��$�
���$�����
����$�����������������
��������
���
��!����������������
���
������������$������
���4��"�
��
�����,���

��$�
���������#���"�
������������������
����������5�������
��"�����"�����#���������#����$����������
��������"�������������&��
�������
�����
�����������
������
�
���
��
�
������������"�����$����"�
����
����������������0*�
���1��3�������
�������������������4������������������
��#�������
�#���$�������
%
�����������%��������
����������
�����3�
��������
�
������������������
����0�����
�����'1�"���������#���

������
��
�������������+�����
����
�����������
��������$���������
���������
��
�
�����������������2���
������
���������6�� 7�
�#�
+�
������
�#�������������
�
��#�
��
����������
�
��#�
��7��
��8��������.����

�/�����!�������������
�����������������
��
���������
��������$�����������$������7��
������+�"���������������#
���������"����"�����������!��������������
��������
��
��$�
��������������
�������#������������"�
����
��������#��������
������
�������
��"����"��������7��
��8�����!�����
���������
��������#��
�����������
�
��
����
������"�
������#���
�����
%
����������
������%"�
��#���9���
�����
�+�#��
����������������
�����$��
"�
�+����
�������
��
�����

�����!���������������
�������������
��
����������������������������
��$$��+������
������������,����
�����������������
������7�
�#�
+�
�����������������
������
�������
���������
��������������"��������
�������( ���#������+�"�����#
��
����
���������
������
��#����
����#���
��
��������������:�
������
���������
�����'���
���
��
�
��
�
��������
�������������
�"�������������������;<=>?@A��������&��
�������
�����
�������
�����$�
���#�������������������������������#�������
����
��
�������������������
�������������
�����
����������������
��������5������
��#����#��
�
������������������
���
���"��������������
��������� 3�7�����&����
�3��������
�0/�������B�(�����(�((1+�����#������#��

���
��������
�
��������������!������������
���������
��
��
�
�����
������$$��
���#
������#���
�����$������������������������������
��$$��+�����
��$$��+������
����������������$��������#
������������������
��
������
�������+�"�
���������������#�������
����#�
���������������
����
�����������������
�����
����&��������
������������
����������������������
�#���$������
����������+�������������$���
���������
������4����������������������
���
�����
�
���"�
�����
��������
�����#������������+�������
��
�
���"����"��"����������
����������������
����
���
���'
������������$���������
��$$������������
��������
������
�����
��3�
������
��������������
�������
��
��������������"�
����
��������������������
������������������+�
������������������2�
��
�������
������'���

�
��
���$��
"�
����������
��������������
��
�����
������������������
�������������������
��#����������
��
�������������$���
�����$����4��������
��
���������
����$�
����������*�"����+����#������+�
�������������
���������������
�������������5��
��
Page 29



� � ��

� � ��

��������	�
�	���
���������
������������	��������������������������
���
	��������
�������
��������������
	��������
��������� ���!����!������
������!������������"��#$��� �%���������
���!�����
����&'$� �
�������������
	����()���!���
�!������
	���������
��������!�
�	
��������
�
��	����������
	
��!����	�!��	��������
���!�����
�����!���
�	!����*��
���+��������������������$��(����������������������	������������!��
�����������������!�
�	
���������������
����������������!���		��
��

��,��!����������������
���+���������������������$����&-$� (�����
�
��	������
�
��.����������*������

���
����!���������.�����!�
�	
�����$�/��������
��	�!�
�	
���������������
������	��
�������������.,
���������$�(��������
����������������!���
�����������
��	�������		��	�
�!��������
����
������
�����!����������
�
�������
������,��	!����0�
��������������1���������
�	!���
����������!��
���	
��	���!����
�������������������	
��	���
�	���
���	�*�	���
������
������������
����
!��$�%
��
�����������������������!������������������,	��	
����
�������������(
����������,
��!�����������������������,	��,����������
����,	�����!��
�.����������
����
!��$�(������	���������		��	�
���*���
��	��������������
��,

*�����������
�
��.����������*��������
��	�,	�������������$�/��������
��,�	����������	��*�
������
��.����������*������

���
������
���!���!��
�,���������,	�$���'�$� (������	�����������!
���!���������������	

*�������
������
������	��
�������������*������	���
����������������!2������%��!���	���(���$�%
��
�������������
��,�������,���!���������������������������	�����
���������������
���
��,��
�!�����!�������������!������������
���������������������������	�����
���
���������������

���
�$�"
���������!�������������������	���
�������
�	!����	�����+���������,	������*�������������!��
�	!��
����
�����
����
��

���		��������
��
��.����������*������

���
�������������(
���������$��'�$� 3�����
�������!����
��������		���*���	������
���������
�������!��
����������
�������!�
�	
����������������
���!���!��
�,���������,	�$����')$� /�����
����������������
�
��	��
��	����������
	����()�
�������
��������������!����!������
������!������������"��#$��� � �����������
�������'4$� /�����
�
��	���
��!���������������
����	�������
��
,2����
����
��,���������
�!���
��5��!����
���(�������
�
,2�����
�����!�
�	
������
�������������
��!�$�(��������������
��,�����

���!��������������������	��,

�$�(�������
�����!�������	��
������������
�!���
�������,
����������!����������	�
��
��!�����������	���������������

���!��������������������	��,

�$����'6$� ����
����
���������
��,���������
�!���
���		��7�	�����0
��,���	��
���		�%��!���	���8�%�!�����*�7��!�9��,���1$�(����
������������������
		
������
�������������		�,���
���!���!��������:�� .�(�����
�
��	���		�����������������
������
��������������������������
��,��
�����!�	���!���!����������������!�����
����������������
�������
�������$�;�<=>?�>??@A�>?�BCDAEF�.�(���,��	!��������	���	���
��
�
�	����
������
����������������������������$�;�<=>?�>??@A�>?�BCDAEG�=CHAIAJ�KBL�JAEAIAMCNOABD�NJCNC?KM?�KJA�JAP@>JAE�DC�QCONML�H>D=�D=A�JAMAIKBD�RAIAMCNOABD�SMKB�NCM>Q>A?�>B�D=A�T>J?D�>B?DKBQAG�DC�
Page 30



� � ��

� � ��

���������	��	�
�������������������	��	
���	����	�������������������	����������������	��	��������������	��
����������������������� �!���"��#$�#%%��&#'(����)$�*�$&���!���)�"%��#%%�� ��)"&��+**���("%"���#$ �&��� �,�(��-�$&�)"((�."((�#�/#��"$�&����%�$�-"%��&�!%&!����.�0�# "$/(�1�2�3�����	4�������	��	��	�	�����������	��	�����	
���5�6��7��������������������������6�����������������������	���	������8���������������������	�������	����4������
���8�����������������9�����������:�	���6�����������������	�����������������	4��	���	�����
���������	����������;�#�&��&�(�������#(��#���#��"/$"."%#$&�"-���,�-�$&��$�&����"�&��"%����&#!�#$&����-"��"�$��$�&����"&���2�5����������������	��	�����������������������	���	������	���
����������������	����	����6���������������5������������������������6	��	���������������	4	����������������������������	�����������6������	���������
�������	�����<�����������������5�6��7���������	��������������������������������
������4��	���4������������	���������������	�����	
��������=���������6�����������
�������
�������	�������� >?@AABAC�D@?@AEF�G�EHAE?IJBHAJK��LMN� ������"$%"�(���.� �,�(��-�$&�"��#%%��&#'(��#$ �&���������#(�)"((��#,��'�$�."&��.���&���,"'�#$%1�#$ �,"&#("&1��.�&�����)$�*�$&��N�O&�"��#(���%�$�" ��� P��$�'#(#$%�P�&�#&�&���������#(�)�!( �$�&�'�� �&�"-�$&#(�&��&���%�#�#%&���#$ �#���#�#$%���.�&����Q"�&"$/�'!"( "$/�#$ �&��������$&��&���&�%�$��#$ �)�!( �������,��&���%�#�#%&���#$ �#���#�#$%���.�&���%�$���,#&"�$�#��#�)�"(�&�$�&��#,"$/�#�$�/#&",��"-�#%&�!��$�&�����&&"$/��.�&���# R#%�$&�("�&� �'!"( "$/�N����� �,�(��-�$&�)�!( �#(��������%&�&���#-�$"&1��.�'�&��.!&!����%%!�"����#$ �$�"/�'�!�"$/��%%!�#$&�N�;���!%��"&�"��%�$�" ��� �&�#&�$�� �-�$�&�#'(���#�-�)�!( �#�"�"$/�.��-�&��� �,�(��-�$&�#$ �&��� �,�(��-�$&�"��%�$�" ��� �&��#%%�� �)"&��!��&�� #&���(#$$"$/���("%"���)"&�"$�&���S�,�(��-�$&�T(#$�)"&��$��-#&��"#(�%�$�" ��#&"�$��&��"$ "%#&���&���)"����LUN� ;���!%�P�&���#��("%#&"�$�"����%�--�$ � �.���VWWXYZV[\��!'R�%&�&��&����(#$$"$/�%�$ "&"�$���!&("$� �#&�&���'�/"$$"$/��.�&��������&N���������������������
Page 31



195

15

76.5m

26 to 36

10

28

24

16

24

40

15

1

3

15

32

29

HEADINGLEY

4
2

45

25

TR
EL

AW
N 

PL
AC

E

12

Post

25

2

17

2

52

50a
35

15

4

55

BACK ASH VIEW

2

1

10

1

11

49

LB

2
Tra

ck
8

6

28

43a

21

1

85.3m

46

2

3

Car Park

77

Sub Sta

25

7

34

ALMA COTTAGES

BACK GRANBY GROVE

40

26 to 32

12

ST MICHAEL'S ROAD

1

2
18

9

Headingley Community Hub

GR
AN

BY
 V

IE
W

14 to 25

32

8

1 to 7

13

GRANBY STREET

5
9

1

OAK

(PH)

War
Meml

67b

7

35

3

24

15

Headingley

19

HEADINGLEY VIEW

35

11 9

32

Shelter

CRESCENT

7

ASH GARDENS

3

2

TCB

4
14

26

3

20

BECKETT'S
PARK DRIVE

TR
EL

AW
N 

AV
EN

UE

35

54
52

c

22

CR

3

5

68

Terraces

29
23

20

5

51

15b

6

13 to 15

Allotment Gardens

43

27
25

CHAPEL PLACE

24

52

13

2

5

1 to 7

13b

8 to 20

El

GRANBY PLACE

2

73

1 to 18

8

9b

10 to 25

24

9

23
1

67

10 
to 1

6

Bank

8

2

8

ALMA ROAD

5

61
2 t

o 8

HEADINGLEY

GRANBY CLOSE

6

KING'S PLACE

16

49
18

37

9

35

2

11

10a
10

1

5

BA
INB

RIG
GE R

OA
D

6a

House
GR

IM
TH

OR
PE

 S
TR

EE
T

HEADINGLEY MOUNT

9

199

199

32

27

8

2

GR
IM

TH
OR

PE

4

11

17

35

Terraces

11

37

19

14

6
SOUTH PARADE

1

12

78

Ward Bdy

61

Car Park

59

12

16

19

ASH VIEW

38 
to 4

6

Arc

The

ASH AVENUE

27
a

17

ASH TERRACE

5

10

5a

87 
to 9

3

77.4m

17

81

6

15

1

1

35

21

Garage

50

8

7

10a

School

Su
b S

ta

2

Shelters

BENNETT ROAD

13

GRUNBERG STREET

12

TCB

6

4

GR
AN

BY
 VI

EW

TCB

St Michaels Court

25

14

3

82.6m

13

12

12

10

9 t
o 1

5

8
St Michael and

1

48

Headingley

199a

El Su b Sta

El
Su

b S
ta

1

2

13
72

L Twr

GR
IM

TH
OR

PE

31
2

8

12

1

30

TR
EL

AW
N

DERW ENTWATER GROVE

1

14

1

Carnegie Pavilion

South Parade

Ps

Surgery

2

20

236

TCB

9

4

1

TR
EL

AW
N

2

25

21

Th
e P

ara
de

1

20
NORTH

 LA
NE

Meml

17

7a

Club

El Sub Sta

85

16

16

1

33

12

Muir Court

3

13

GR
AN

BY
 R

OA
D

8
10

63

9

3

3

Park Lane Central
GRANBY MOUNT

39

7

79.6m

Bollard

3

18

14

25
16

14

TCBs

Headingley
Medical Centre

St Michaels Court

2

6

Skyrack

All Angels Church

Moorfield

Lodge

3

2

25

67

1
15

20

12

2
14

1
23

TE
RR

AC
E

55

2

28

13

ROAD

2

TRELAWN

3

1

62

ST ANNE'S ROAD

27 25

21

2

76

TE
RR

AC
E

78.0m

1

82.9m

28

84.1m

7

The

53

El Sub Sta

13

15a

11

1

14

TCBs

10

38

4

56

Hotel

48

26

83

6

44

CHAPEL STREET

15

75
a

36

ST MICHAEL'S GROVE

80.2m

St Michaels

Sunday

1

PO

1

Arndale

11

14

Shelter

5 to 6

14

St Michael's Villas

GRANBY TERRACE

STONELEA COURT

CR
ES

CE
NT

Bank

83.2m

1

Hall

Rising

18a
7

10a
5

9

16

Lupton Flats

85.3m

12
12

4a

STREET

The

Bank

21

67a

11

24

23

65

4

Lodge

PL
AC

E

201

203

ASH

15

7

CRESCENT

1

5

ST
RE

ET

2

Church Halls

230

CRESCENT

TERRACE

56

21

NO
RT

H 
LA

NE

2

11

2
16

57

21a

70

3

40

84.1m

21
9

7
3

7

24

36

11
9

7
3

6

35

DENNISTEAD CRESCENT

1

Chapel Square

9

CHAPEL TERRACE

8

Parish

8

4

11

11 to 13

3

38

1

SAGAR PLACE

26

10

Centre

17

16

OTLEY ROAD

7

ST
 M

ICHA
EL

'S
2

Youth Centre

2

11

BENNETT ROAD

St Lukes Church

20

WOOD LANE

29

7

8

20

44

29

3

12 10

11
9

8

24

6

BECKETT'S PARK

2
2a

4

13

DERW
ENTWATER

2

78.6m

54
a

52

a

21

87.5m

23

Post

Lounge

29
a

27

17a

4
CROSS CHAPEL STREET

Grove Court

58

32

Garage

5

23

46a

Taps (PH)

4

54a

25 23

El

27

25

75

Hall

2

28

33

Arndale House

5

10

The Shires

6

9

4

Library

36
3

5

4

GRANBY AVENUE

1

Posts

31

14

8 to 21

2

9

22

17a

18

14
15

7
1 to 3

27

3
1

6
19

Building

10

83.8m

42

27

6

4

5

92.4m

31

2

38

2

36

9
11

3

10
20

KIRKSTALL LANE

90.8m

16

26

1

2

Baptist Church

1

3
1a

ASH ROAD

19

52b

50

18

1a

22

6

L Twr

2

Apartments

ST
 M

IC
HA

EL
'S

 T
ER

RA
CE

7a

45

32
8

1 to 6

23 to 27

4a

52

14

19

30

Headingley

8

54

40

11

23

13

Place

2

W
ellfield

GRANBY GROVE

4

Post

10

35

69

77.1m

Church

Roof Car Park

2

GRUNBERG ROAD

7

1 to 12

12

BRODRICK COURT

1

El Sub Sta

1
29

1
21

28

CROSS GRANBY TERRACE

17

8

13
5

SHIRE SM

The Brahm

720/01173/CLP20/01173/CLP20/01173/CLP SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °

21/05270/FU

SCALE : 1/2500Page 32



Bennett Road

OneFourOne Architects Ltd
5 Beech Court
Farnely Tyas
Huddersfield
HD4 6AX
United Kingdom

T +447730691282
E Info@one4one-arch.co.uk
www.one4one-arch.co.uk

original by date created approved by

client name

project

drawing

computer file plot date

project number scale

drawing number rev issue status

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all related 
drawings. All dimensions must be checked and verified on 
site before commencing any work or producing shop 
drawings.The originator should be notified immediately of 
any discrepancy. This drawing is copyright and remains the 
property of OneFourOne Architects Ltd.

@A41 : 1250

P01

MS -01/15/19

Location Plan

2019.00110.000

Montgomery House

Montgomery House Ltd

MGH-IVI-XX-ZZ-DR-A-90-001 PL

1 : 1250
Location Plan

1

0

SCALE  1 : 

25 50 75

1250

N

Rev Description Date Dr by App by

P01 Issued for Planning 12.05.20
21

- -

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Report of the Chief Planning Officer 

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL 

Date: 24th November 2022  

Subject: 22/02200/FU - Demolish    stable block and office and erect one dwelling 
house including alterations to form vehicle access - Stable Block, Mall Lane, Off 
Carlton Lane, Guiseley, Leeds, LS20 9PE 

 

APPLICANT   DATE VALID TARGET DATE 
Mrs W Field   15.07.2022 09.09.2022 

 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION:    
 
 
GRANT approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

Conditions 
1. Time limit on outline permission 
2. Development to accord with approved plans 
3. External materials to be approved 
4. Surfacing materials to be approved 
5. Boundary treatments to be approved 
6. Construction Method Statement to be approved 
7. Vehicle areas to be laid out 
8. Bin storage to be provided 
9. Electric vehicle charging points to be provided 

Originator: Laurence Hill 

Tel: 0113 2224444 

Electoral Wards Affected: 
 
 

Otley and Yeadon 
 
 

Yes Ward Members consulted 

Specific Implications For: 
 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 
 

Community Cohesion 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



10. Landscape scheme to be approved 
11. Landscape scheme to be carried out 
12. Imported soil tests to be approved 
13. Unexpected contamination to be reported 
14. Drainage details to be submitted 
15. Removal of permitted development rights 

Page 36



INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This application is brought to Plans Panel in accordance with the scheme of delegation 
at the request of Councillor Colin Campbell for the following reasons: 

 
 

• This is to all intents and purposes a new build within the green belt. As such it 
is contrary to local and national policy. 

• The development, garden, car parking etc would be detrimental to the openness 
of the green belt. 

• The access road is sub-standard. 
• No valid reason has been put forward to set aside green belt policy. 

 
 

PROPOSAL: 
 

2. This application seeks planning permission for the demolition of a stable block and 
erection of one dwelling house including alterations to form new vehicle access. The 
dwelling proposed is a single storey 3-bedroom property constructed from natural 
stone and slate. Vehicular access is off Mall Lane. Garden space is located to the 
immediate south of the property with meadow planting beyond this. 

 
3. During the application process the design of the dwelling has been amended. A more 

traditional form has now been proposed with a slimmer L shaped building together with 
a steeper roof pitch to ensure the building has a rural vernacular. The materials have 
been changed to ensure that the entire dwelling is to be built from natural stone. 

 
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

 
4. The application site comprises a block and render stable block and an agricultural barn 

set within a small holding. Immediately to the north of the site is a residential property 
which is currently being extended and beyond this an equestrian business. To the south 
of the site is a newly constructed dwelling which replaced a commercial building. 

 
5. The application site is located on the South side of Otley Chevin within the Green Belt. 

Yeadon and Guiseley town centres located approximately 2 kilometres to the South and 
Otley town centre 2 kilometres to the North. 

 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 
 

6. 19/06632/FU - Demolition of car storage facility and construction of a dwelling – 
Approved at appeal 

 
 

PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE: 
7. Bramhope Parish Council: Objections 

 
Although the proposals are judged in the Local Plans report to meet with planning policy 
the Parish Council has various concerns regarding the development of this site. 

Page 37



• The negative impact of additional domestic curtilage and associated 
domestic paraphernalia and parked vehicles on the openness of the Green 
Belt. There is a need to protect visual amenity both from the impact of the 
new dwelling and the associated domestic curtilage 

• The lack of landscaping and planting plans which would help soften the 
transition into the Green Belt and improve the biodiversity of the site. 

• It should be demonstrated that there be no need for further stables to be 
developed as a result of this application. The Historical Appraisal Map 
Review refers to a barn already on the site. 

• Permitted development rights should be removed 
 

8. One letter of representation has been received raising the following objections: 
 

9. This application is for a new residential dwelling in Green Belt or paragraph 80 which 
does not conform with any of the criteria set out in the policy in that it would not be a 
building of outstanding architecture , it would not re-use a heritage asset, it would not 
be an agricultural workers dwelling and it would not be the re-use of redundant farm 
buildings. 

 
10. The new access from the dwelling goes across third party land for which I know they 

have not received permission for and never will. Should the access be revised to come 
out of the existing access into the field, this would not comply with highways protocols 
for size and sight. 

 
11. Mall Lane is busy enough with traffic already so visitors etc to the proposed property 

would increase the burden on the road. 
 

12. The existing buildings are not of sound structure and look an eyesore so should be re- 
built fitting into the surroundings more however only as the intended and permitted use, 
that of stables 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

 
Highway Services 
No objections subject to conditions.. 

 
Contamination 
No objections subject to conditions 

 
Flood Risk Management: 
No objections subject to drainage condition 

 
Environmental Studies: 
Due to this site's proximity to Leeds Bradford Airport, care should be taken in choosing 
roofing and glazing specifications such that the internal noise standards detailed within 
BS 8233 are met. 

 
 

PLANNING POLICIES: 
 

Development Plan 

Page 38



13. Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning 
applications are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Leeds comprises the 
Adopted Core Strategy (Amended 2019), saved policies within the Leeds  Unitary 
Development Plan (Review 2006) and the Natural Resources and Waste Development 
Plan Document (2013) the Aire Valley Leeds AAP and any made neighbourhood plan. 

 
14. The following Core Strategy policies are considered most relevant: 

 
• Spatial Policy 1 – location of development. 
• H2 – New housing on unallocated sites. . 
• P10 – Design. 
• P12 – Landscape. 
• T2 – Accessibility and highway safety. 
• Policy G9 - biodiversity improvements 
• EN2 – Sustainable design and construction. 

 
15. The following saved policies within the UDP are considered most relevant to the 

determination of this application: 
 

o GP5 - Development proposals should resolve detailed planning considerations. 
o N33 – Development with the Green Belt 
o BD5 – New development and protection of amenity. 
o LD1 – Protection of vegetation. 

 
Natural Resources and Waste Development Plan: 

 
 

16. The following Supplementary Planning Policy documents are relevant: 
• Neighbourhoods for Living. 
• Street Design Guide. 
• Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction. 

 
National Planning Policy 

 

17. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Governments Planning 
Policies and contains policies on a range of issues including housing, sustainable 
development, green belt, conservation, the local economy and design. 

 
18. The NPPF constitutes guidance for Local Planning Authorities and its introduction has 

not changed the legal requirement that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
Climate Emergency: 

 
19. The Council declared a climate emergency on the 27th March 2019 in response to the 

UN’s report on Climate Change. 

Page 39



20. The Planning Act 2008, alongside the Climate Change Act 2008, sets out that climate 
mitigation and adaptation are central principles of plan-making. The NPPF makes 
clear at paragraph 152 and footnote 53 that the planning system should help to shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in 
line with the objectives of the Climate Change Act 2008. 

 
 

21. As part of the Council’s Best Council Plan 2019/20 to 2020/21, the Council seeks to 
promote a less wasteful, low carbon economy. The Council’s Development Plan 
includes a number of planning policies which seek to meet this aim, as does the 
NPPF. These are material planning considerations in determining planning 
applications. 

 
22. MAIN ISSUES 

 
• Principle of development 
• Design 
• Residential Amenity 
• Highway Safety and Parking 
• Other material planning issues 
• Local representation 
• Conclusions 

 
23. APPRAISAL 

 
Principle of development 

24. The site is located within an area of designated Green Belt (UDP Policy N32). It is not 
situated within a designated Neighbourhood Area. 

 
25. The key consideration is whether the proposed development is acceptable in the Green 

Belt. The National Planning Policy Framework states that “Inappropriate development 
is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very 
special circumstances” (para.147). Para.149 highlights that the construction of new 
buildings should be regarded as inappropriate in the Green Belt, subject to a number 
of exceptions. For the purposes of this planning application, consideration is given to 
the following exception listed in para.149 

 
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed l and, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which  would: ‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt than the existing development…” 

 
26. For criteria g) to apply, the site would have to be defined as ‘previously developed land’ 

as described in the glossary to the NPPF: 
 

“Previously developed land: Land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be 
assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any 
associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or was last 
occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for 
minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for restoration 
has been made through development management procedures; land in built-up 
areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; 

Page 40



and land that was previously developed but where the remains of the permanent 
structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape.” 

 
27. From an assessment of the site the stables are in use for the purpose of providing 

accommodation for horses, and not for grazing as part of agricultural use of the land. If 
the keeping and feeding of horses is not provided for the purposes of agriculture 
(defined in Section 336 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) it is not defined as 
an appropriate use in the Green Belt. 

 
28. There is case law which establishes that the equine use of land including stabling can 

be defined as previously developed land so long as it is occupied by a permanent 
structure. The existing stable block is a permanent structure and therefore, is clearly 
previously developed land. The application can therefore be considered and assessed 
against para.149 criteria g) on whether the new replacement building would “not have 
a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development”. 

 
29. The existing stable block, while appropriate within the context of the Green Belt, is a 

poor-quality building which causes harm to the openness and appearance of the Green 
Belt. The proposed replacement dwelling is sited in the same location of the existing 
stables and has a comparable footprint. The addition of a pitched roof does increase 
the height by approximately 2 metres and with it the volume of the building by 
approximately 115 metres cubed  – an increase of 29 percent and therefore this would 
result in a small additional impact on the openness of the Green Belt. However, the 
development results in small reduction in the footprint of the building and it is 
considered that the proposed dwelling is good quality and of an appropriate vernacular 
for this semi-rural location such that it will result in an appreciable improvement in the 
appearance of the landscape. T h i s  b a l a n c e  b e t w e e n  t h e  h e i g h t  a n d  
v o l u m e  w i t h  t h e  d e s i g n  a n d  i m p r o v e m e n t  t o  t h e  o v e r a l l  
a p p e a r a n c e  o f  t h e  l a n d s c a p e  w a s  t a k e n  b y  t h e  I n s p e c t o r a t e  i n  
a l l o w i n g  t h e  a p p e a l  f o r  a  r e p l a c e m e n t  o f  t h e  c a r  s t o r a g e  
b u i l d i n g  w i t h  a  d w e l l i n g  o n  t h e  s i t e  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  2 0 0  m e t r e s  
t o  t h e  s o u t h  t h e  a p p l i c a t i o n  s i t e .  In light of this clear improvement and 
quality of design, it is considered that the increase in height and volume of the new 
dwelling can be justified in balancing the Green Belt and design policy objectives. 

 
30. Paragraph 80 of the NPPF specifically states that development of isolated homes in the 

countryside unless there are specific circumstances relating to need, heritage, reuse of 
buildings and/or design that justify the development. The development proposed does 
not meet the specific circumstances. The application site is located in a semi-rural 
location approximately 2 kilometres away from the nearest settlements and public 
transport routes. The access road to the site is unlit and does not have a dedicated 
footpath. Residents of the proposed dwelling, while there being a well-established 
network of public footpaths and bridleways locally, would be largely reliant on the 
private vehicle to access services and facilities. As such the site is relatively isolated. 
However, the site is within a small group of residential properties and commercial 
uses which have an existing vehicular access and are served by refuse collection. In 
this context it is considered that the location of the dwelling is not so isolated as to be 
physically or functionally separated from other residential and commercial properties. 
It is therefore considered that paragraph 149, which permits the redevelopment of 
previously development land should be given greater weight as part of the planning 
balance. 

 
Design 

31. With specific regards to design, it is considered that the proposed dwelling represents 
good quality design which responds positively to this semi-rural setting. The modest 
single storey building with a L shape footprint has a form that reflects that of traditional Page 41



agricultural and equine buildings. 
 

32. The use of natural stone and slate together with stone headers and cills for all doors 
and windows is welcome and again appropriate in this semi-rural context. 

Page 42



33. The development includes the upgrading of the existing field access track to a domestic 
driveway. The use of gravel and additional landscaping will ensure part of the 
development can be sympathetically assimilated into the landscape. 

 
34. It is recommended that conditions are attached requiring the submission of stone and 

slate, windows and landscaping to ensure that appropriate natural materials are used 
and good quality landscaping is achieved. 

 
35. In summary, it is considered that the proposed development constitutes a good quality 

and well-designed small-scale development which enhances this part of the Green Belt. 
As such, the development is considered to be compliant with policy P10 and P12 of the 
Leeds Core Strategy, GP5, BD5 and P10 of the Saved   Unitary  Development 
Plan Review (2006). 

 
Residential amenity 

36. With regards to residential amenity, the development will provide a good quality internal 
and external living environment for future occupants. No impact on the amenity of other 
properties will result from the development. 

 
37. As such the proposed development is considered to comply with policy GP5 of the 

Saved Unitary Development Review (2006) and the guidance within the 
Neighbourhoods for Living SPG. 

 
 

Highway Safety and Parking 
38. With regards to issues of highway safety and parking, the existing access from Mall 

Lane onto Carlton Lane is substandard, therefore improvements should be made. The 
national speed limit applies to Carlton Lane. A speed survey was carried out by Leeds 
City Council in September 2021 on Carlton Lane, within 20m of Mall Lane. The 
identified 85th percentile speed was 34.9 mph eastbound and 34.6 mph westbound. 
Therefore, visibility splays of 2.4m x 83m eastbound and 2.4m x 82m westbound are 
required. The areas within the visibility envelopes will need to be maintained so that the 
vegetation is no higher than 1.0m above the carriageway. This will be secured by 
condition. The first 15m of the access track should be hard surfaced and drained such 
that loose materials and surface water does not discharge or transfer onto the highway. 
Conditions are recommended requiring the surfacing of the junction of Mall Lane and 
Carlton Lane and for the maintenance of landscaping to ensure visibility is maintained. 

 
39. The proposed development provides two off-street parking spaces which is considered 

sufficient. Adequate space for vehicles to turn within the site to ensure they can exit 
the site in a forward gear is provided. 

 
40. Considering the above, it is considered that the development complies with policy 

GP5 of the Saved Unitary Development Plan Review (2006) and T2 of the Leeds Core 
Strategy. 

 
Other Material Planning Issues 

41. With regards to climate emergency, air source heat pumps and electric vehicle charging 
points are also to be provided for each property. No gas energy is proposed. 

 
42. With regards to bio-diversity improvements, the existing site has limited immediate bio- 

diversity value. The development offers scope for bio-diversity enhancements to this 
and wider part of the site. It is recommended that a condition requiring the detail of 
these bio-diversity improvement measures and strategy is included as part of 
permission. 

 Page 43



 
Local representation 

43. The issues raised through the local consultation process have been considered in 
reaching a recommendation on the proposal and these considerations are laid out 
within the report. 

 
CONCLUSION 

44. In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal represents a good quality and well- 
designed development which will preserve the openness and improve the character of 
this Green Belt through the sympathetic redevelopment of this previously developed 
site. This weighs in favour of the development. The location of the away from the urban 
area is such that future occupants will be largely reliant on a private vehicle for means 
of transport. This weighs against the development 

 
45. Overall, assessing the planning balance of the proposal it is considered that the benefits 

of the development through the creation of a good quality and well-designed dwelling 
with the improvements to the character and appearance of the landscape outweigh 
concerns regarding the relative isolation of the site and as such it is recommended that 
planning permission is granted. 

Page 44



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Majentta Farm 

 
Issues 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

215.2m 

22/02200/FU Sinks 

231.3m 

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019567 

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL SCALE : 1/2500 ° 

M
A

LL
 L

A
N

E 

Page 45



e: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

232.00 
 
 

Sinks 
 
 
 
 

231.3m 
 
 

234.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

230.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

228.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

226.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

224.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

222.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

220.00 

 
 

template 
architects 

 
 

www.template-architects.com 
Tel: 07890907273 
Email: hello@template-architects.com 

 
 

Template Architects Limited 
Registered in England & Wales : 
12841085 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

210.00 

 
 
 
 
 

215.2m 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

212.00 214.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

216.00 

 
 

218.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CALTON LANE 

 
 

1 
28/06/2022 08:39:33 

SL_Site Location Plan 

1 : 1250 

General Notes: 

 
Copyright of this drawing is vested in the Architect and it must not be 
copied or reproduced without consent. Only figured dimensions are to be 
taken from this drawing. All contractors must visit the site and be 
responsible for taking and checking all dimensions relative to their work. 

 
Notify the Architect immediately of any variation between drawings and 
site conditions. 

 
DO NOT SCALE OFF THIS DRAWING - IF IN DOUBT ASK. 

 
Where drawings are based on survey information received, surveys are 
available on request. 

 
All drawings to be read in conjunction with all relevant Structural and 
M&E Engineers drawings and specifications. 

 
Where dimensions are given on a drawing they must always be checked 
against site dimensions. Dimensions on drawings are indicative only. 
Site checks must be used for fabrication information. 

 
H&S HAZARDS: 

 
Significant hazards relative to the architectural design shown on this 
drawing have been assessed and highlighted with reasonable skill and 
care using a warning triangle system. 

 
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all other hazards/risks 
which have been identified and recorded within the construction phase 
H&S plan. 

 
It is assumed that all works on this drawing will be carried out by a 
competent contractor working, where appropriate, to an approved 
method statement. 

 
Significant hazards are defined as: - 

 
ꞏ Those not likely to be obvious to a competent contractor or other 
designers. 
ꞏ Those of an unusual nature. 
ꞏ Those likely to be difficult to manage effectively. 

 

Rev: Details: By/Chk Date: 

 

 
Client: 

Mrs W Field 

 
Project: 

Mall Lane 

 
Drawing Title: 

Site Location Plan 

Stage: 

Planning 
Status: 

Planning 
 

Drawn By: 

TA 

 
Date: 

February 2022 

 
Scal1 : 
1250 
Sheet Size: 

A3 

 

 
Project Number: 

210053 
  

 
TA-P1-XX-GA-A-0004 

 
Revision: 

 

P
age 46

http://www.template-architects.com/
mailto:hello@template-architects.com


 
Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 
SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL 
 
24th November 2022 
 
21/08345/FU and 21/08346/LI -  Change of use of former library and the erection of a six 
storey extension to create a co-living scheme (sui generis) with associated communal 
facilities, a work hub to ground floor and basement parking, Former Burley Library, 230 
Cardigan Road, Headingley, Leeds, LS6 1QL 
 
APPLICANT DATE VALID TARGET DATE 
Parklane Group Ltd 08.10.2021 07.01.2022 

 
 

        
 
 
 
POSITION STATEMENT: For Members to note the content of the report and 
presentation and to establish a position on the appropriateness of co-living 
accommodation in the absence of specific policy or planning guidance and to identify 
any other outstanding issues that need to be resolved prior to the and determination 
of application. 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
2. This presentation is intended to inform and seek Members views on the application for 

the change of use of the former Burley library and the erection of a six storey extension 
to create a 78 bed space co-living scheme (sui generis) with associated communal 
facilities and a co-working hub. 

 
3. Co-living is an emerging product within the housing market, and although there are 

some operational schemes in London, this is still new to most Core Cities.  The product 
is targeted at the recent graduate market; consultancy-type workers who only need to 
be in a particular location for a few months; key workers who work in city centres, and 
also recent incomers to cities who don’t necessarily want to rent on their own or know 

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
Little London & Woodhouse 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap  Ward Members consulted  Yes  

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



anyone to house share with.  Occupancy in co-living schemes is not restricted to 
particular groups like students or key workers.  

 
4. Co-living is not a fixed product but rather a range of different approaches which use the 

same model of studio units within a wider scheme with a range of amenity/shared facility 
provision.  There is not a dedicated Use Class within the Use Classes Order for co-
living and, as such, co-living use is a sui generis use (without a Use Class).  Designs 
of different schemes differ e.g. some studios have kitchenette facilities within the studio, 
others don’t. Shared amenity spaces are also distributed differently depending on the 
operator.  

 
5. Although there are differences between different types of co-living there are some 

general characteristics which can point towards a co-living use: 
 

 Purpose-built shared living model aiming to provide a high standard of accommodation 
 Residents have a private room/studio (typically en-suite) within wider development 

which includes range of shared facilities (inc. kitchens, dining rooms, social spaces, 
workspaces, social spaces etc.) 

 Residents rely on / are actively encouraged to use shared facilities as part of the overall 
management and shared living approach 

 There’s a single management regime and operator, on site concierge/management 
services, flexible tenancies, all-inclusive rent for utilities and access to services 

 Generally, co-living schemes are situated within town and city centres that are close to 
employment hubs and concentrations and near to transport networks. 

 
6. The London Plan has an adopted policy on co-living schemes whereby schemes are 

only acceptable where they meet a range of criteria. In the absence of a specific co-
living policy or guidance document it is considered this range criteria is useful to inform 
the requirements of the proposed co-living scheme.   This criteria being: 

 
 Is the scheme of good quality and design 
 Does the scheme contributes towards mixed and inclusive neighbourhoods 
 Is the development located in an area well-connected to local services and employment 

by walking, cycling and public transport, and its design does not contribute to car 
dependency  

 Is the development under single management 
 All  units are for rent with minimum tenancy lengths of no less than three months 
 Communal facilities and services are provided that are sufficient to meet the 

requirements of the intended number of residents and offer at least: a) convenient 
access to a communal kitchen b) outside communal amenity space (roof terrace and/or 
garden) c) internal communal amenity space (dining rooms, lounges) d) laundry and 
drying facilities e) a concierge f) bedding and linen changing and/or room cleaning 
services. 

 The private units provide adequate functional living space and layout, and are not self-
contained homes or capable of being used as self-contained homes  

 A management plan is provided with the application  
 It delivers a cash in lieu contribution towards conventional C3 affordable housing. 

Boroughs should seek this contribution for the provision of new C3 off-site affordable 
housing as either an: a) upfront cash in lieu payment to the local authority, or b) in 
perpetuity annual payment to the local authority 

 
7. The specific background of this site and scheme submitted planning permission was 

granted in 2019 for the redevelopment of Burley Library for co-working space and a 6 
storey extension to create 60 C3 residential apartments. The current application is for 

Page 48



predominately the same proposal for the library and design and scale of the extension 
with the amendment to the accommodation changing this from C3 dwellings to co-living 
units. 

 
8. The application was submitted in October 2021 at which point the Houses in Multiple 

Occupation, Purpose-Built Student Accommodation and Co-Living Amenity Standards 
draft SPD was progressing. While only limited weight could be given to this draft 
guidance the design and detail of the original scheme reflected the draft guidance on 
co-living schemes. Development Plan Panel (DPP) considered an update on the 
Houses in Multiple Occupation, Purpose-Built Student Accommodation and Co-Living 
Amenity Standards draft SPD on 2nd November 2021. Following discussions Members 
resolved that the co-living section of the SPD would be removed; that the revised draft 
SPD will be presented to DPP in January 2022, before Pre-Adoption.  A full copy of the 
minutes of the DPP meeting is set out at Appendix 1. 

 
9. Given this change in the draft SPD to remove guidance officers were of the view that 

co-living model did not have policy support and therefore could not be accepted. This 
view was strengthened by concerns with the scheme submitted. The proposal was for 
98 units with majority of units being only 22 and 23 square metres, which reflected the 
deleted draft SPD guidance, and with shared accommodation that was not considered 
of an appropriate size and quality to create an acceptable level of amenity for future 
residents. 

 
10. However, it is apparent that the co-living model does need further consideration. There 

are schemes in London and other Core Cities and with a number of schemes being 
considered for Leeds. A similar proposal, albeit on a larger scale, in the City Centre was 
taken to City Plans Panel in July 2022. Furthermore, the scheme has been amended 
to reduce the number of units to 78, increase the size of each unit to 30 square metres 
and to improve the quality of the shared living spaces by locating these to the front of 
the building with access balcony space. Given that other co-living schemes are being 
considered within Leeds, the improvements made to the scheme and the wider benefits 
of this development, namely the retention and sympathetic redevelopment of the grade 
II listed Burley Library it is considered beneficial update Members on the position of the 
application and to seek Members views on how to proceed with the application. 

 
 

Site and surroundings 
11. The application site comprises the former Burley Library site is located on Cardigan 

Road. the site is in a mixed residential area surrounded largely by residential housing 
with a  significant proportion of this housing in multiple occupation for students.  

 
12. The immediate surrounding area has a variety of non-residential uses including retail 

and petrol station, cafes, community centres, shops and places of worship 
 

13. The site is flanked by multi-storey student accommodation blocks to either side along 
Cardigan Road with The Glassworks to the north and the Embankment to the south, a 
railway line with former coal drops to the rear and petrol filling station opposite. Further 
west is Burley Park and further east is an area of terraced housing and community 
facilities with a small open green square. 

 
14. Vehicular access to the rear is via the adjacent Iconinc Glassworks site and the 

underground car park belonging to The Embankment Building is to serve as access to 
the proposed accommodation basement car park. 

 

Page 49



15. The Library building is grade II listed and in a relatively intact condition, despite the fact 
that it has been vacant for over 3 years and then subsequently used as a construction 
site office. The front façade and roof are largely as originally designed. However, an 
adjoining building to the side has been demolished. Original windows remain and are 
to be retained and repaired. 

 
Proposals 

16. The application is for the retention and refurbishment of the Grade II listed Burley 
Library creating a co-working hub and 7 duplex co-living units with a 6 storey extension 
to the rear to create 71 co-living units and associated communal living space. Each unit 
is 30 square metres in sized and provides a single bedspace, en suite shower room 
and mini-kitchen. Communal living spaces are provided on each floor of the building 
provide larger kitchen facilities, communal living spaces and access to external 
balconies. 

 
17. The scheme seeks to amend the previously approved development to alter the internal 

spaces to create the co-living model. The number of units has increased from 60 C3 
apartments to 78 co-living units. The previously approved elevation design is retained 
with only minor changes to the rear elevations of the building. These consist of the 
removal of balconies and the slight repositioning of windows. All other aspects of the 
building design are to be retain as previously approved.  

 
18. The listed Library building was designed to be at the heart of the design proposal and 

this remains exactly the same in the current proposal as that previously approved. The 
prominence of the original building on the streetscape remains as approved and there 
are virtually no significant changes to height, massing, finishes or fenestrations.  

 
19. The proposal seeks to retain all the historic elements of the scheme as previously 

approved. This means the Library largely serves as a co-working space as previously 
approved. The proposal involves restoring and refurbishing the historic Library building 
which will create a distinctive create a historic point of interest in the streetscape. In 
order to further reinforce this concept, the proposed new apartment development is to 
be discernibly contemporary.  

 
 

Relevant planning history 
20. 18/00121/FU - Change of use of former library six storey extension to form 60 flats, with 

work hub to ground floor and basement car parking – Approved 
 
 

21. 18/00122/LI - Listed Building application for alterations including six storey extension to 
form 60 flats with work hub to ground floor and basement car parking - Approved 

 
 
 

Consultation responses 
 

22. LCC Highways Transport Development Services: No objections subject to clarification 
on parking layout, Travel Plan and agreement and funding of TRO within the vicinity of 
the site.  
 

23. LCC Flood Risk Management (FRM) – No objection subject to additional information 
on SudS drainage 
 

Page 50



24. Yorkshire Water – No objections subject to conditions 
 

25. Environmental Studies Transport Strategy Team – No objections 
 

26. LCC Contaminated Land Team – No objection subject to conditions 
 

27. Influencing Travel Behaviour (Transport Development Services) – No objections 
subject to Travel Plan being included in S106 agreement 
 

28. Network Rail – No objection subject to conditions 
 

29. West Yorkshire Police – No objections 
 

30. Leeds Civic Trust 
 

31. The Trust supported the principle and broad aims of the scheme as presented in a 
previous application and note that this proposal is little changed from the previous 
scheme - we are particularly keen to see listed Burley Library building back into use. In 
this regard, our position remains unchanged.  
 

32. We trust that a full analysis of the existing fabric will be undertaken and proposed 
repairs (for example to doors, glazing, paneling, flooring, tiling, windows, roof lanterns, 
external doors and railings) should be detailed prior to commencement. We would also 
support the retention of the existing front doors unless their removal can be properly 
justified. 
 

33. The site's proximity to local transport routes (bus routes, Burley Park Station) means 
that car use should be at a minimum. Any reduction in car parking could be regarded 
as an opportunity for more amenity space. 

 
Policy  

 
Development Plan  

 
38. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the 

application to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision making for this 
proposal within the City Centre boundary, the Development Plan for Leeds currently 
comprises the following documents: 

 
 The Leeds Core Strategy 2014 (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective 

Review 2019) 
 Saved UDP Policies (2006), included as Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy 
 The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP, Adopted January 2013) 

including revised policies Minerals 13 and 14 (Adopted September 2015) 
 Site Allocations Plan (Adopted July 2019) 

 
Leeds Core Strategy (CS) 

 
39. The Core Strategy sets out the strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery 

of development and the overall future of the district.  Relevant Core Strategy policies 
include: 

 

Page 51



- Spatial Policy 1 prioritises the redevelopment of previously developed land in a 
way that respects and enhances the local character and identity of places and 
neighbourhoods.  

- Spatial Policy 8 supports a competitive local economy through (ii) enterprise and 
innovation in housing, leisure and tourism; (iii) Job retention and creation, 
promoting the need for a skilled workforce, educational attainment and reducing 
barriers to employment opportunities. 

- Policy H4 states that developments should include an appropriate mix of dwelling 
types and sizes to address needs measured over the long term taking into account 
the nature of the development and character of the location. 

- Policy H5 identifies affordable housing requirements.   
- Policy H8 states developments of more than 49 dwellings should include support 

for Independent Living. 
- Policy H9 refers to minimum space standards in new dwellings.   
- Policy H10 identifies accessible housing standards. 
- Policy EC3 safeguards existing employment land, stating that the loss of an 

existing Class B use in an area of employment shortfall will only be permitted 
where the loss of the premises can be offset sufficiently by the availability of 
existing general employment land and premises in the surrounding area. 

- Policy P10 requires new development to be based on a thorough contextual 
analysis to provide good design appropriate to its scale and function, delivering 
high quality innovative design and that development protects and enhance the 
district’s historic assets in particular, historically and locally important buildings, 
skylines and views. 

- Policy P11 states that the historic environment and its settings will be conserved, 
particularly those elements which help to give Leeds its distinct identity. 

- Policies T1 and T2 identify transport management and accessibility requirements 
to ensure new development is adequately served by highways and public 
transport, and with safe and secure access for pedestrians, cyclists and people 
with impaired mobility. 

- Policy G9 states that development will need to demonstrate biodiversity 
improvements. 

- Policies EN1 and EN2 set targets for CO2 reduction and sustainable design and 
construction, and at least 10% low or zero carbon energy production on-site. 

- Policy EN4 states that where technically viable major developments should 
connect to district heating networks. 

- Policy EN5 identifies requirements to manage flood risk. 
- Policy EN8 identifies electric vehicle charging infrastructure requirements. 
- Policy ID2 outlines the Council’s approach to planning obligations and developer 

contributions. 
 

Saved Unitary Development Plan Review policies (UDPR)  
 

Relevant Saved Policies include:  
  

- Policy GP5 states that all relevant planning considerations are to be resolved. 
- Policy BD6 states alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form, 

detailing and materials of the original building. 
- Policy BD4 relates to provision for all mechanical plant on and servicing of new 

developments.  
- Policy BD5 requires new buildings to consider both amenity for their own 

occupants and that of their surroundings including usable space, privacy and 
satisfactory daylight and sunlight. 

- Policy N14 – N17 requires the preservation of listed buildings  
 

Page 52



Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) 
 

40. The NRWLP identifies where land is needed to enable the City to manage resources, 
like trees, minerals, waste and water and identifies specific actions which will help use 
the natural resources in a more efficient way.   

 
41. Relevant policies include: 

 
- Air 1 states that all applications for major development will be required to 

incorporate low emission measures to ensure that the overall impact of proposals 
on air quality is mitigated.   

-   Water 1 requires water efficiency, including incorporation of sustainable drainage 
- Water 4 requires the consideration of flood risk issues 
- Water 6 requires flood risk assessments.   
-   Water 7 requires development not to increase surface water run-off and to 

introduce SUDS where feasible. 
-   Land 1 requires consideration of land contamination issues. 
 

Site Allocations Plan (SAP) 
 

42. The Site Allocations Plan was adopted in July 2019.  Following a statutory challenge, 
Policy HG2, so far as it relates to sites which immediately before the adoption of the 
SAP were within the green belt, has been remitted to the Secretary of State and is to 
be treated as not adopted.  All other policies within the SAP remain adopted and should 
be afforded full weight.   

 
43. The site is not identified in the SAP.   

 
Other material considerations 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 

44. The NPPF was updated in July 2021.  Paragraph 11 states that decisions should apply 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Permission should be granted 
unless the application of policies in the Framework provides a clear reason for refusing 
the development; or any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the Framework as a 
whole. 

 
45. Chapter 5 identifies guidance for the delivery of a sufficient supply of homes.  

 
46. Chapter 7 relates to measures to ensure the vitality of town centres to promote their 

long-term vitality and viability allowing them to grow and diversify, allowing a suitable 
mix of uses (including housing) and reflecting their distinctive characters. 

 
47. Chapter 8 promotes healthy and safe communities aiming to achieve healthy, inclusive 

and safe places.   
 

48. Chapter 9 identifies measures to promote sustainable transport.  Paragraph 112 states 
that priority should be given to pedestrian and cycle movements; the needs of people 
with disabilities and reduced mobility addressed; creation of safe, secure and attractive 
spaces; allow for the efficient delivery of goods; and be designed to enable use by 
sustainable vehicles.   

 

Page 53



49. Chapter 11 states that decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the 
need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and 
ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 

 
50. Chapter 12 identifies the importance of well-designed places and the need for a 

consistent and high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places.  Paragraph 
126 states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities.  Paragraph 130 states that planning decisions should ensure that 
developments: 

 
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities); 
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; 
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support 
local facilities and transport networks; and 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience. 
 

51. Chapter 14 identifies the approach to meeting the climate change challenge.  New 
development should avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from 
climate change and should be planned so as to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions, 
such as through its location, orientation and design (paragraph 154).   

 
52. Chapter 16 refers to the historic environment.  Paragraph 197 states that local planning 

authorities should take account of: 
 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 
 

53. Paragraph 199 states that “When considering the impact of a proposed development 
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be).” Paragraph 202 states that “Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.“ 
 

Supplementary guidance 
 

- Accessible Leeds SPD  
Page 54



- Travel Plans SPD 
- Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
- Neighbourhoods for Living SPG   
- Transport SPD (revised draft) 
 
- Houses in Multiple Occupation, Purpose-Built Student Accommodation and Co-

Living Amenity Standards draft SPD.  On 2nd November 2021 Development Plan 
Panel agreed that the co-living chapter from the draft SPD would be removed and 
that officers would consider bringing forward policy for co-living as part of Local 
Plan Update 2. 

 
Issues 

 
54. Members are asked to comment on the proposals and to consider the following matters: 

 
 

Principle of development:  
55. The former Burley Library site is a brownfield site which is also located within the main 

urban area, close to public services, leisure and employment opportunities. Co-living is 
a form of long-term residential accommodation and the development would deliver 78 
studio apartments which would represent a useful contribution towards the provision of 
new homes within Leeds. It is therefore considered that the principle of residential 
development on this site is acceptable subject to all other material planning 
considerations. These considerations are discussed below. 

 
Co-living housing  

56. Co-living developments aim to blend the benefits of self-contained apartments with the 
advantages of high-quality communal facilities to increase social interaction.  There are 
currently no co-living housing schemes within Leeds and as such that applicant 
considers there is demand for this form of housing in that it allows for flexible lease 
terms; a more communal form of living; the convenient provision of services and 
facilities including utilities, WiFi, cleaning, alongside a concierge and security, all at an 
inclusive price.  

 
57. Experience elsewhere shows that occupiers are typically city dwellers in their 20’s and 

30’s; graduates; corporate employees; international workers or people new to a city; 
downsizers and / or anyone who wants to live in a central location.  There is evidence 
that there are over 32,000 people in the core target market already living in Leeds.  

 
58. In the absence of any specific policy with respect to co-living proposals, as a form of 

long-term residential accommodation it is considered appropriate to review and assess 
such proposals against more strategic policy ambitions including for accessibility, for 
sustainability and for the quality of life.  Considerations relating to residential amenity, 
affordability, green space, accessible housing and sustainable transport set out in 
existing development plan policies are measures by which a systematic approach to 
co-living schemes can currently be addressed. 

 
Density 

59. CS Policy H3 requires housing developments in urban areas to be at least 40 dwellings 
per hectare.  The proposals identify 78 residential apartments on a site area of thereby 
significantly exceeding the minimum policy requirement and making efficient use of 
brownfield land in a highly sustainable residential location. 

 
Housing mix 

Page 55



60. CS Policy H4 aims to ensure that new housing delivered in Leeds provides an 
appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes to address needs measured over the long-
term taking account of preferences and demand in different parts of the city.  With this 
in mind the policy is worded to offer flexibility.  Targets for the number of bedrooms in 
flats ranges from 10% for one and four bedroom apartments, 30% for three bedroom 
apartments, up to 50% with two bedrooms.  The co-living accommodation is designed 
for single people and all apartments would have a single bedspace.   

 
Space standards and residential amenity 

61. CS policy H9 requires all new dwellings to comply with identified minimum space 
standards so as to create a healthy living environment for occupants.  In this regard, 
the minimum size of a one bed, one person apartment identified in H9 is 37sqm if the 
flat has a shower room.  The CS standards reflect the Nationally Described Space 
Standards which, in identifying the requirements, took into account the space required 
for all furniture, fittings, activity and circulation space, provided all the space and 
facilities required to ensure that all homes are functional. 

 
62. Co-living intentionally takes a different approach to conventional C3 accommodation 

where households are self-contained, instead encouraging integration with other 
occupants of the development through the use of communal living spaces and kitchens. 

 
63. 71 of the rooms are 30 square metres in size with 7 duplex apartments within the former 

library building on ground floor of at least 30 square metres. The rooms would be fitted 
with double beds with storage spaces below, a dressing area, full height wardrobes, a 
living area including a two-person settee and low table, a fold down table with two chairs 
for dining and workspace, low level storage units, a bookcase and storage cabinet, a 
bathroom pod with WC, sink and shower, an entrance lobby and a kitchenette.   

 
64. While co-living places a large significance on the provision of communal amenity 

spaces and mechanisms around facilitating social environments, the studios need a 
degree of independence and self-sufficiency to create an environment to which 
residents are able to use as needed.  The proposed kitchenettes in rooms take into 
account the anticipated usage such that a basic level of cooking can be undertaken 
within the studios themselves.  The studio kitchen would provide a sink, fridge freezer, 
two ring hob, combination microwave oven/grill, extractor hood and waste bins, along 
with storage and shelving.  The provision also takes into account the shared kitchen 
arrangements which provide additional space and equipment. 

 
65. Each floor has a communal area for the use of all residents. Each communal area would 

have a series of workbenches allowing several residents to cook at any one time.  
Seating for 10-12 people would enable almost an entire floor to sit and dine together if 
desired.  The provision of flexible seating would also allow the shared area to be used 
as social space during times when it may not be used for cooking, and seating provides 
an alternative space for residents to work during the day, or socialise generally. The 
space could also be used as a gathering space for small events. The breakdown of the 
facilities for each floor is as follows: 

 
 Basement: 143 square metre communal area (for use as a private gym and/or 

cinema) and 80 square metre back of house/servicing  
 Ground floor and Mezzanine: 7 duplex units with approx. 60 metres square of 

shared space and 199 metres square of co-working space (with the co-working 
space also open and accessible to the public) 

 First floor: 15 co-living units with 67 square metre communal area and 23 metres 
square of external balcony space. 

Page 56



 Second floor: 15 co-living units with 57 square metre communal area and 20 
metres square of external balcony space. 

 Third floor: 15 co-living units with 73 square metre communal area and 20 metres 
square of external balcony space. 

 Fourth floor: 14 co-living units with 88 square metre communal area and 23 
metres square of external balcony space. 

 Firth floor: 12 co-living units with 51 square metre communal area and 21 metres 
square of external balcony space. 

 
 

66. A small area of outdoor amenity space is provided to the rear of the building. This area 
is partly located under the building such cannot be considered to be the primary outdoor 
amenity space for the development. The principal amenity space is provided within the 
balcony and terraces accessed off each communal area. 

 
67. Residents of the proposed development will be eligible to use the co-working hub free 

of charge. In addition, they will be entitled to use all the communal facilities in The 
Glassworks. This includes, the gym, cinema, spa and amenity garden as well concierge 
services. 

 
68. Do Members support the principle of co-living and the amenity offered by the 

development? 
 

Affordable housing  
69. CS policy H5 sets a minimum target that 7% of new homes in major developments in 

this part of the city should be affordable housing with a mix of intermediate and social 
rents at benchmark rents.  78 apartments would generate the need for 6 affordable 
units based upon this policy which states that affordable housing provision should be 
on site, unless off site provision or a financial contribution can be robustly justified. 

 
70. From discussions it is considered that the applicable policy basis that could translate to 

co-living relates to Build to Rent developments and specifically part iii of the policy which 
allows a commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision of affordable housing.  Such an 
approach is adopted in London which, through the London Plan, seeks payment in lieu 
to fund traditional C3 affordable housing elsewhere.  It is suggested that this approach 
is a more practical solution rather than attempting to introduce traditional C3 affordable 
housing within a co-living development which tends to be occupied on shorter 
tenancies; offers only single person accommodation, and the developer’s ability to offer 
more affordable accommodation is more limited than for Build to Rent due to physical 
and management constraints associated with co-living developments.  Further, there is 
currently no evidence that there is a demand for ‘affordable’ co-living accommodation 
in the city. 

 
 

71. Do Members support the approach to affordable housing provision for this co-
living development? 

 
 

Design and conservation  
72. The development seeks the conversion and extension to the Grade II listed Burley 

Library building:  Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 (the ‘Listed Buildings Act 1990’) provides: 

 
73. “In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 

listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Page 57



Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses.” 

 
74. The design of the extension is considered to be high quality. The scale and form 

responds to its setting by appear to stand off and ‘float over’ the listed Library Building 
and with a broken form and a diminishing scale ensuring the extension does not 
compete with the Library and, while being a considerable extension, will not appear as 
an unduly prominent or dominant addition. This impact is further reduced  as the 
building will be largely obscured from most of Cardigan Road as it is set back behind 
the Glassworks and Embankment buildings  
 

75. The proposed new apartment extension is to discernibly contemporary to contrast with 
the traditional and simple form of the Library. It is designed to give the appearance that 
the extension is floating behind the Library building. The cantilevered balconies project 
slightly over the rear of the Library building. Then the upper levels are set back to reduce 
the overall massing. 

 
76. It is proposed that the balconies are fully glazed in order to further reinforce the 

lightweight appearance to the building. 
 

77. The scheme involves the retention of all significant elements of the listed library 
building. Works to the internal fabric of the building include: 
  
 Double storey coffered ceiling and moulded cornice to be repaired, restored and 

made good. 
 Oak pillars and cared panelled oak kiosk, bookcases and finished oak wall 

panels to be retained and restored. 
 Leaded and stained glass window to be repaired, cleaned and restored. 
 Panelled internal timber doors, glazed doors and architraves to be retained and 

restored. 
 Existing roof lanterns to be retained and restored. 
 Existing tile work to be restored. 
 Parquet flooring to be retained and restored where possible and replaced with 

similar where necessary. 
 New Crittall glass pods and wall panels to form work pods and internal partitions 

within the reception area. 
  

95. External alterations include the retention and restoration of original brickwork and 
replacement brick work to the side elevation. 
 

96. Do Members support the design of the extension and works to the Grade II 
listed Burley Library? 
 
Landscape, public realm and biodiversity 

97. Burley Library sits on a tight urban plot with limited scope to provide meaningful onsite 
public and private amenity space, landscaping or biodiversity improvements. As 
discussed, private amenity space is largely limited to the balcony areas and the small 
area of amenity space to the rear. In lieu of on site provision for public greenspace as 
require by CS policy G4 an off site commuted sum of £68,938 is required to provide 
additional or improved greenspace within the vicinity of the site.  

 
Highway safety and parking 

98. With regards to highways and parking the proposal includes 24 parking spaces which 
represents parking provision of 31 percent. The proposal includes a Travel Plan and 

Page 58



a car share scheme. Given the sustainable location close to Burley Park train station 
it is considered that this level of parking is considered acceptable in this context. 

 
99. Traffic management has been consulted, and owing to the proposed development, a 

Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) would be required as follows: 
 

• Double yellow lines on the northern side of Broadway Avenue to prevent on-street 
parking obstructing the footway 

• Double yellow lines at the junctions of Cardigan Road with Alexandra Road, 
Thornville Road and Burley Lodge Road.  

• amendment to the waiting restrictions on Cardigan Road along the frontage of the 
site to restrict loading/unloading. 

• Dropped kerb crossing with tactile paving on Broadway Avenue.  
• The redundant drop kerbs in front of the library’s gates will also need reinstating 

to full height kerb.  
 
100. The above can be delivered as part of off-site highway works (planning condition) and 

will require minor S278 agreement to be fully funded by the developer. 
 
101. As on-street parking is available in proximity of the site (and at high demand), future 

residents are likely to use free on-street parking instead should parking charges apply 
to residents. As such, the developer would be required to fund further TROs or 
Parking Permit Scheme in proximity of the site. This would be a S106 contribution, 
with relevant covenants to both the developer and the Council.  

 
Do Members support the parking provision and highway works associated with 
the development? 

 
 

Accessibility and inclusion 
 

102. Alongside the Accessibility SPD, CS policies P10(vi) and T2 require that 
developments are accessible to all users.  Detailed landscape design should meet 
the standards set out in Approved Document Part M and British Standard (BS) 8300. 
  

103. CS policy H10 requires that 2% of new homes should be adaptable to wheelchair user 
standards (M4(3)).  This equates to 2 accessible studios which would be provided 
within the development and supported by the 2 parking spaces in the basement.  A 
new lift would connect the basement with the main entrance lobby at ground floor.  All 
other studios would be designed to comply with Part M requirements. 

 
 

Sustainability and Climate Change 
 

104. The CS sustainable development policies are designed so that new development 
contributes to carbon reduction targets and incorporates measures to address climate 
change concerns following the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency in 2019.   
Policy EN1 is flexible, allowing developers to choose the most appropriate and cost-
effective carbon reduction solution for their site.   Major developments also need to 
meet the BREEAM Excellent standard if feasible (EN2). Where technically viable, 
appropriate for the development, and in areas with sufficient existing or potential heat 
density, major developments should propose heating systems, potentially connecting 
to the emerging district heating network (EN4(i)).   

 

Page 59



105. It is intended that the development will incorporate a series of sustainability measures. 
These would be achieved through the implementation of a wide range of strategies 
and measures including further consideration of the following: 

  

 Retention and re-use of the existing building but with improved thermal 
performance  

 Smart construction to avoid landfill waste  
 Reduction in carbon emissions through sustainable energy usage/materials  
 Introduction of electric vehicle charging points 
 Biodiversity enhancement with new wildlife habitats, pollinating plant species and 

bird boxes 
 
 

Conclusion 
 

106. The emerging proposal for the use of the building as co-living accommodation is a 
new concept for housing provision within the City and, at the current time, is not the 
subject of any specific policy.  Accordingly, with reference to more strategic 
considerations and overarching policy, at this time each case needs to be considered 
on its merits.  

  
107. Members are asked to note the contents of the report and the presentation, and are 

invited to provide feedback, in particular, on the issues outlined below: 
 

Do Members support the principle of co-living and the amenity offered by the 
development?  

 
Do Members support the approach to affordable housing provision for this co-
living development?  

 
Do Members support the design of the extension and works to the Grade II listed 
Burley Library? 
 
Do Members support the parking provision and highway works associated with 
the development? 

 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 : Minutes of the Development Plan Panel meeting 2nd November 2021 
 
The report of the Chief Planning Officer provided the Panel with an update on the progress 
of the draft Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO), Purpose-Built Student Accommodation 
(PBSA) and Co-Living Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The 
report also set out the proposed timetable for progressing the draft SPD to adoption. 
  
Appendix 1 included a summary of the representations made during the consultation period 
as well as the Council’s initial response and proposed actions in response to the comments 
received. 
  
The Senior Planner presented the report, and provided a general overview of the range of 
responses received (65 reps received, providing 500 individual comments relating to the 
draft SPD) from the 6-week consultation, including work undertaken in relation to continued 
informal engagement with the landlord sector on concerns relating to the status of the SPD 

Page 60



and its relationship to other Council workstreams. It was noted that a Frequently Asked 
Questions (FAQ) document will be published alongside the draft SPD and will address a 
number of concerns not directly related to the content of the draft SPD. 
  
Members heard that a wider “Student Housing” working group convened by Unipol Housing 
will take place in November / December 2021, to discuss issues relating to the student 
housing sector. 
  
It was also noted that co-living schemes are emerging in Leeds, and there is a need for 
further clarity relating to the strategic policy context, therefore it is proposed that the co-living 
section of the draft SPD will be removed. The Council are advocating for a similar approach 
used for PBSA; emerging co-living schemes will present an opportunity to establish a Leeds 
methodology. 
  
It was confirmed that a revised “Pre-Adoption” draft SPD will be presented to DPP in January 
2022, for endorsement for a further 4 weeks of publicity in January / February 2022. It was 
noted that the anticipated adoption date for the SPD remains unchanged and is expected 
July 2022. 
  
A member emphasised the importance of ensuring there are representatives present at the 
Student Housing working group, from Student Unions. Officers confirmed that efforts will be 
made to seek those representatives, and feedback from the working group will be reported at 
the DPP meeting in January 2022. 
  
Members collectively shared their concerns regarding emerging co-living schemes, in terms 
of space standards and there being no policy set nationally to set a baseline for such 
proposals and how Leeds will determine proposals under existing policies. Members queried 
the difference between co-living accommodation and HMOs, and further raised concerns 
regarding amenity space and the impact on mental health. 
  
Officers outlined the process in terms of determining emerging planning applications, and 
confirmed that there will be a co-living member workshop on the 2nd December that will 
provide members with the opportunity to discuss their concerns in more depth, and an 
invitation will be extended more widely to all Plans Panel Members. 
  
RESOLVED – To note: 

a)  the contents of the report and the progress on the SPD, together with comments raised 
by Members during discussion of this item. 

b)  the continued work with key stakeholders to remedy concerns raised before further 
consultation takes place on the draft SPD. 

c)  that the co-living section of the SPD will be removed. 

d)  that the revised draft SPD will be presented to DPP in January 2022, before Pre-Adoption 
Publicity takes place in January/February 2022. 

e)  the intention for all DPP members to receive an invitation to attend the Co-Living 
Workshop. 

 
 
 

Page 61



KIRKSTALL ROAD

32

St Matthias'

237

PH

35

15

Shelter

WOL
SE

LE
Y R

OA
D

230
f

Bowling Green

1

El Sub Sta

6

224

2

The

168

131

114

CA
RD

IG
AN

 R
OA

D

to

161

55

14
2

BACK HAROLD GROVE

73

35 33
45.7m

BE
AM

SL
EY

 G
RO

VE

1

BURLEY LODGE ROAD

80

6
8

1

12

8
10

54

46

52

14

55

2 to 12

34

WILL
OW

 A
PP

RO
AC

H

1

113

BACK AUTUMN ROAD

44

BA
CK

 S
PR

IN
G 

GR
OV

E 
WA

LK

28

42

41

51

38
9

42 to 46

31

22

14
35

TH
OR

NV
ILL

E 
ST

RE
ET

29

13

36

WOL
SE

LE
Y R

D

VINERY ROAD

29

58.2m

231

39.6m

Croft House

230
e

Play Area

House

2

Play Area

Mast

24

CFB

Mast

17
0

191

TCB

20
8

159

143

157

69

53

83

BA
CK

 B
EA

MS
LE

Y G
R

27

CARBERRY ROAD

BA
CK

 C
AR

BE
RR

Y T
ER

RA
CE

Thornville

4

17

68

3

TH
OR

NV
ILL

E 
RO

AD

51

53

Posts

49

36

17
13

194

BA
CK

 AU
TU

MN
 TE

RR
AC

E

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

42

3

13

16

HAROLD GROVE

41

HAROLD ROAD

13

15

83

32

34
15

HAROLD STREET

30

29

12

HAROLD AVENUE

9

THORNVILLE ROW

Vicarage

43.9m

37

11

Public Park

51

25

27

7

15

230a

29

15

Bo
ro

 C
on

st 
& 

Wa
rd

 B
dy

masonry

247

39.6m

Works

12

CR
OS

S 
BU

RL
EY

 L
OD

GE
 R

OA
D

260

181

LB

20
0

12

65

51
49

BA
CK

 C
AR

BE
RR

Y P
LA

CE

17

BEAMSLEY TERR

BACK BRUDENELL ROAD

Shelter

59

BE
AM

SL
EY

 P
LA

CE

2

12

2

13

CA
RB

ER
RY

 T
ER

RA
CE

11

60

57

52

18
14 to

196

7

66

27

33

9

THORNVILLE GROVE

9

WILLOW AVENUE

102

2

1

Posts

37

23

11

27

AU
TU

MN
 G

RO
VE

2

4

52.1m

30

33

29

1

43

34

11

10

41

19 37.5m

29 ASHVILLE VIEW

BACK ASHVILLE AVENUE

245

Bo
ro

 C
on

st 
& 

Wa
rd

 B
dy

WI
LL

OW
 R

OA
D

26
2 t

o 2
80

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

16
6

24
6

145 to 149

63

67
75

79

104

1

Burley

33

13

BACK ALBERT TERRACE

4

1

Tank

10

1

206

2

47.9m

15

58

12

31

9 to 17 56

55

41

2 t
o 4

GR
OV

E
SP

RI
NG

 G
RO

VE
 W

AL
K

14

36

37

1

10

5
1

14
4

3

Posts

35

24

40

36

28

82

38

16

HAROLD PLACE

35

31

30

13

THORNVILLE AVENUE

54.9m

16

13

10

30
28

11

30.5m

26

Church

236

234 232

1

11

Scout Hut

2

Building Supplies Depot

Surgery

Footbridge

56.1m

171
90

137

14

73

87

76

1

of Antioch

41

18

222

31

20

CA
RB

ER
RY

 P
LA

CE

9

62

7

GARTH

6

121

119
Posts

THE MALTINGS

45

12

61 30

36.0m

TE
RR

AC
E

56

50

35

34

47

15

a

87
36

32

23

HAROLD VIEW

14

19

16

34

35

28

23

16

SP
RI

NG
 G

RO
VE

 V
IE

W

32

19

28

31

17 15

2
18

14
2

36

12

8

THORNVILLE PLACE

ROW

Church

Pavilion

10

Recreation Ground

Tennis Court

PARK VIEW ROAD

2

230d

9
5

6

SL

27

27

Shelter

BROADWAY

Glassworks

20
4

116

23
2

89

50.9m 155
98

61

71

85

28

87

Vicarage

13

St Margaret's

2525 29

3
BEAMSLEY MOUNT

39

11

BA
CK

 C
HI

SW
IC

K 
TE

RR

10

33

1 to 7

20

1

198 a

SP
RIN

G

Play Area

46

48

46

35

46

11

2

97

Posts

36

4

27

HAROLD MOUNT

24

27

2

174

72

97

AU
TU

MN
 TE

RR
AC

E

36

34

30

22

34

18

164

63

1

10

25

235

239

290

45

15

22

12

8

WOLSELEY ROAD

1

10

SL

Sloping

MP

CR

AVENUE

Surgery
45.1m

153

16

59

77 81

88

Church

84

Willows

25

92

Burley Lawn

2

11

19

23

BACK CARBERRY ROAD

59

21

18

59

1 CH
IS

W
IC

K 
ST

RE
ET

18

CH
IS

W
IC

K 
TE

RR
AC

E

1

8

117

4

45

5

THORNVILLE MOUNT

2

13

196 194

5

111

48

40

38

25

2

16

14

15

75

33

36

13

2

21

16 14

29
45

BURLEY ROAD

ALEXANDRA ROAD

11

7

10

BACK THORNVILLE

246

36

39

Centre

PW

17

27

PARK
VIEW GROVE

Ashfield

57.9m

Sloping masonry

22

BURLEY ROAD

23
4

169

Filling Station

Mast

163
151

133
135

108

57

BACK BEAMSLEY TERR

WILLOW

29

18

Court

BACK BEAMSLEY MOUNT

70

214

ESS

14

53

16
28

2

HAROLD TERRACE

18
2

1

184

92

30

1

HAROLD WALK

1

THORNVILLE TERRACE

20

15

13

BACK BURLEY LODGE ROAD

33

38

29

21

32

14

13

11

11

20/01173/CLP20/01173/CLP20/01173/CLP SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °

21/08345/FU

SCALE : 1/2500Page 62



C
a
r
d
i
g
a
n
 
R
o
a
d

T
h
e
 
L
i
b
r
a
r
y

T
h
e
 
G

l
a
s
s
w

o
r
k
s

1
6
7

1
6
9

1
7
1

Broadway Avenue

234

T

h

o

r

n

v

i

l

l

e

 

R

o

a

d

A

l

e

x

a

n

d

r

a

 

R

o

a

d

A 18.05.18 FM

Location plan

Scale 1:1250

N

B 07.06.21 JC JCB

logo updated

PLANNING ISSUE

Location:

144 Sunbridge Road

Bradford

BD1 2HA

T - 01274 723 909  

The Former Diplomat Hotel 

E - info@yemearchitects.com

W - www.yemearchitects.co.uk 

All dimensions are to be checked on site, any discrepancies are to be reported to the

Architect before work commences. Do not scale from this drawing.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and specialists

drawings / documents, any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect before the

affected work commences.

All structural components shown are indicative only.  Details / calculations of structural

members are to be provided by the Structural Engineer.

This drawing is copyright.

Cardigan Rd, Leeds, LS6 1QL

Location Plan

Park Lane Properties

500944 PL-01 B

1:1250

07.06.2021 JCB AH

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 Site Visits
	6 Minutes - 27 October 2022
	7 21/05270/FU - Headingley Community Centre, North Lane, Headingley, LS6 3HW
	1)21-05270-FU
	1
	Untitled Extract Pages

	8 22/02200/FU - Stable Block, Mall Lane, Off Carlton Lane, Guiseley, Leeds, LS20 9PE
	INTRODUCTION
	PROPOSAL:
	SITE AND SURROUNDINGS
	RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:
	PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:
	CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
	PLANNING POLICIES:
	22. MAIN ISSUES
	23. APPRAISAL
	CONCLUSION

	9 21/08345/FU and 21/08346/LI - Former Burley Library, 230 Cardigan Road, Headingley, Leeds, LS6 1QL
	3)21-08345-FU Burley Library Position Statement
	21-08345-FU
	21-08345-FU location plan
	Sheets and Views
	A3 - DELETE AS REQUIRED




